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Chapter 2/Of f The Plantation

(v©r» 2 f 6/18/98)

I didn't want to look for support from my cousin Esther,

so the next day I went looking for work, and was hired as a 

houseboy for the LaBlanc family.

My duties included cleaning, shopping and running 

errands for Margaret, their daughter. I used to do things 

like go to th© store and buy shoe© for her. She'd tell m© th© 

size and I'd go g©t them. I bought her powder, soap, things 

like that. Sh© probably was too lazy to go herself, so she 

sent me.

Margaret was in her twenties, a tall, slim brunette. She 

was going to school. There was three other daughters, but 

they was older and married had moved out. Margaret was th© 

only on© left in the house. Mrs. LaBlanc was handicapped, sh© 

couldn't us© her left hand.

The LaBlancs was a family of moderate income in this 

small town. They also had an upstairs maid. I was given a 

little shack in th© back of their house to live in, which was 

part of my meager wages. Tli© LaBlanes had two grandchildren 

by another daughter about the same ag© as I . Their 

grandchildren and I got along fine together. Mrs. LaBlanc 

knew th© salary eh© was giving m© was small, so sh© told me 

to plant a garden in back of th© house. Hi© money I earned 

from selling whatever vegetables ェ grew would be min© to us©
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for things 丄lfc© movies or pock©t change. I grew different 

kinds of vegetables in my garden. I gave Mrs. LaBlanc1s 

family some vegetables and sold the rest up and down the 

streets. I pulled a little red wagon filled up to th© top 

with vegetables.

There was times when I got very lonesome in my little 

shack, ©specially when th© day was over and night began. One 

thing for sure, I did have a German shepherd, Laddie, wlio 

followed m© everywhere エ went, even to th© movies. He staved 

outside until I cam© out. エ 10v©d this dog. He really was a 

devoted friend.

On© day I was walking along selling my vegetables, when 

a gang of whit© boys cam© up to m© and wanted to start a 

fight. I told them I lived at the LaBlanc1s home and worked 

for them. They was surprised to hear this and walked on down 

th© street. I didn't have that trouble anymore.

My salary was two dollars a week, plus meals. At first I 

at© my meals in th© backyard under a tree close to th© house. 

They gave m© a wooden table and a chair back there. But 

Margaret didbi't like that. Margaret had visited New York and 

seen how black and whit© people lived there, and she 

explained to her mother that making m© ©at in th© back yard 

was wrong. Margaret said sh© didn»t believe in discriminating 

against any race of people. Her mother probably hadn't 

travelled and didn^t know any better. I liked Margaret. She 

was friendly toward m© and sh© seemed intelligent. If she 

believed in di日crimination she wouldn't have trusted m© going
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to the store for her. I realized that not all whit© people 

was mean and prejudiced; some, lik© Margaret, tried to b© 

decent toward black people. From then on I at© at th© kitchen 

table and I was treated better than before around th© house.

エ got 丑cquainted with the black maid who worked 

upstairs. Sh© did th© cleaning and th© washing and ironing. I 

used to give her some of th© vegetables from my garden. Sh© 

was forty years old. Sh© was a very nice lady. Sh© fixea my 

breakfast ©very morning.
I worked for th© LaBlancs for nearly two year日 . But I 

decided to leave to better my condition. The little money ェ 

was making vyasn't enough. I needed to buy my own clothes anci 

shoes. On© day I jumped up and wanted to get to stepping, so 

I packed my suitcase and left to 100k for 日ome work that paid 

more.

I went back to Esther's house and stayed about a month. 

Esther was nice to m© but her daughter and I couldn't get 

along. Things began to g©t unpleasant around th© house* It 

seemed to m© that cousin Esther's daughter was mentally 

disturbed. Often w© got into arguments. She s丄apped m© in the 

fac© on© day. I told cousin Jessie about how sh© was acting 

around th© house when everyone was out. He didn»t lik© it, 

and told her never to slap m© again. I didn't want to make 

matters worse, so I left Melville.

I went to a littl© farm to visit 日ome friends of mine, 

Anni© and Buddy Harris. When I arrived there, they was out 

in th© fields planting potatoes. I stayed and h©丄ped them
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plant potatoes for about a week. I relt good helping them 

with th© planting cause they was struggling sharecroppers and 

they appreciated my help,

I left them and stayed for a day or so with cousin 

Horae© Bertrand. Wh©n I was leaving I asked him if h© could 

give m© some money for travelling, and he gave m© a chicken, 

which I was happy to get. When I was walking down the street, 

I saw a man coming tov?ard m© who was dressed like he was on 

his way to work. I stopped him and asked if h© wanted to buy 

a chicken. He answered yes. I sold him th© chicken for forty* 

cents. With forty cents in my pocket, I went looking for a 

friend's house to ask him to travel with me and show m© th© 

way to Galveston, Texas. I wanted to get to Galveston because 

I knew Uncle Tot and Aunt T-Babe was now living there.

Oak Tar was my friend's jiam©. When I found Oak Taar he 

didn't have any money but h© was willing to hobo with m© and 

show m© th© way. First, w© hoboed to Opelusa日， Louisiana.

Then w© jumped on a freight train for Galveston. Once inside 

th© boxcar it 概 日 日 0 cold w© had to make a fir©. As w© 

traveled 觸  didn’t have anything to ©at all th© way. When Oak 

Tar and エ finally arrived, th© cold wind seemed like it went 

straight through our bodies. Unci© Tot and Aunt T-Bab© wa日 日 0 

happy to &&& me, they hugged and kissed m© and fixed us eom© 

dinner. When dinner was over, Oak Tar went back to Louisiana.

I spent a few days looking around Galveston. I noticed 

one day when I was walking down th© street that some people 

was coming out of a building carrying bags of food. I asked
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th© p©opl© if エ could get some of that food. They told m© to 

go on in and ask for som©. Whsn I got insid© th© bui丄ding and 

asked for th© food, a lady, who was sitting behind a desk, 

told m© to sign some papers• When エ signed th© paper日， I got 

th© food -- some cornmeal, flour, plums and grapefruit日 . I was 

so glad to get this food I couldn't wait to get home to show 

Aunt T_Babe and Uncle Tot what I had. When Unci© Tot saw th© 

food, h© got very angry at me. Apparently, th© building I went 

into to get th© food from was th© Welfare Office. Unci© Tot 

explained to m© I shouldn't go to th© Welfare Office to get 

food because that food was for people who v?as out of work and 

didn't have any other means of support. Even though I didn't 

quit© understand what h© was talking about, I didn't go there 

ever again.

One evening passing th© dock I noticed som© men was 

giving away bananas. 11i©y gave m© som©, so I took them. I 

didn't know what reaction Uncle Tot would have. But h© didn't 

say anything to me about that. I just wanted something 

different to ©at for a change.

It was so nice being witn my unci© and aunt, but jobs 

was hard to rind. No one was hiring. A government agency had 

a work project called th© Civilian Conservation Corps. This 

project was designed for young boys who wanted to work. I 

signed th© necessary forms so I could begin working. However, 

th© next morning when I was supposed to report to go on th© 

job, エ was walking down the street and pains started in th© 

lower part of mv stomach. I fell unconscious in th© streets.
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Someone called th© ambulance. When I wok© up I was laying in 

bed at John Seely Hospital. Hanging in front of my bed was a 

chart that said "C.C.C boy." I was uncertain about th© nature 

of my illness. Before I realized what was happening to me, a 

team of doctors was wheeling* me down the corridor toward the 

operating room. I saw ail thes© doctors standing around m©. 

Then this 0 1d doctor cam© up and asked me what was wrong. I 

said I didn't know, but I didn't v?ant to b© operated on. Th© 

old doctor told th© others to take m© back to my room. Then 

h© cam© in carrying in his hands a catheter, which h© 

inserted and pulled out. It was lat©r that I found out my 

urin© had stopped. On© thing for sure, I didn.t have any mor© 

trouble of that kind.

When I thought about that job which I had signed up for 

at th© C, C . C . camp, I decided not to take it, because the 

government was only paying twenty dollars a month. Five 

dollars would b© for myself and they would send the rest of 

th© small amount to my aunt.

While I was looking for some other work, I used to go to 

th© courthouse in Galveston ana listen to th© cases. I had 

heard people talking about th© courthouse and the law and 

all, and I was interested. I was also interested because I 

remembered Unci© Tot's trouble in Louisiana with th© whit© 

man. Tot got away to Galveston, but th© Sheriff in Louisiana 

found out where h© was and got th© police in Texas to arrest 

him on his job at th© dry docks. They brought him back to 

Louisiana and put him in jail in Opelusas. I was still
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living in Louisiana then. But they had to let him out because 

th© whit© man they claimed Tot killed, his mother cam© to th© 

courthouse and told them, "Tot did not kill my son." She 

knew h© didn*t do it. Some other white man had done it*

They had to let Tot go. When h© got back to Galveston, th© 

superintendent at th© dry docks, a man named Spider, let him 

have his job back. Tot was a good worker and Spider said, "I 

don't car© if h© killed every whit© man in Louisiana, I want 

him back on th© jobi"
So this was on© reason I was interested in what went on 

at th© courthoue©, I noticed that they had a lot more black 

folks in there than whites on trial and going to jail for 

various crimes. It seemed like something was wrong, but I 

couldn't pinpoint exactly what. I didn't really understand 

how racism worked at that time, but I knew something was 

wrong. It wouldn't be until I got into the union that I would 

understand better. But I could s©© that black folks was not 

getting equal justice. And it mad© m© start to thinking.
Every morning for thr©e weeks エ would go and 1 in® up on 

th© dock for work. All th© foremen would com© over on a 

little boat and pick th© people they wanted to hire. Todd Dry 

Dock was on th© other side of the bay. On this particular 

morning they hired about 30 men, and I was one of them. W© 

was examined and signed up to work as common laborers scaling 

and painting ships. Each man was given ironto© shoes and a 

helmet for safety. Payday was on Fridays.
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I was doing common labor -- sometimes running the 

scaling gun, or painting, or down in th© double hold cleaning 

out th© bottom, which was dangerous work. Just like they did 

in Texas City, Tetxias when that damned ship blowed up. But エ 

was young and I didn't know how dangerous it was.

Soon I found out that you had to join th© union, rfliis 

was th© union of common laborers, a black union. Uncle Tot 

was a member of th© union. Mr. Spriggens, th© president, told 

Unci© Tot, 11 Your boy is young. You1 丄丄 h技vb to 日tand for* him 

to get his _foook." So Mr. Spriggens signed m© up and gave m© 

my black union book.

Later on w© went on strike for better wages. This was in 

about 1938. Th© common laborers was only making 35 cents and 

hour. They put m© on th© picket line at nightt That was my 

rirst time on a picket 丄in©. Th© whit© guys in th© other 

unions, th© boilermakers, the carpenters, they respected our 

picket lines and wouldn't cross th© line. I was proud to b© 

in th© union and on strike because my Unci© Tot was a strong 

union man. I remember during th© strike Uiicl© Tot would wak© 

up in th© morning and tell Aunt T-Bab©, "Hurry up an fix my 

breakfast, T-Bab©; I got to go on duty." That1s what h© said 

about going to th© picket line; hG was proud of it and called 

it "going on duty . 11 H© was picketing during th© day, and I 

picketed at night. It was th© first time either of us was on 

a picket line and h© inspired me.

Th© strike lasted three months. Before the strike, the 

common laborers was receiving thirty-five cents an hour. When
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th© strike finally was settled, th© wages was fifty cents an 

hour. Afterwards, all common laborers joined th© union. Now 

this was my first involvement with any union activity,

Jobe those days was hard for a black man to find, except 

on farms and plantations, where wages waG so low you Gould 
barely live off of it.

I thought about all th© black people like my cousins who 

was sharecroppers for whit© plantation owners. Black families 

stayed on some of their land and picked and chopped cotton at 

just above starvation wages. Th© living arrangements mostly 

created hardship sine© large families was forced to liv© in 

crowded on©- and two-room houses. There was no running 

water, only outdoor toilets, and many people was forced to 

sleep on floors. Families didn't have enough money to buy- 

new clothing Th© whit© plantation owners sold them hand-me- 

down clothing.
Some black families moved off th© plantations to g©t 

jobs in th© cities. Some was lucky; others went back to th© 

farm. Black children worked in th© fields with little or no 

education.

Th© union mad© m© feel that I could do something for 

poor people like myself and my cousins. Tli© union gave m© a 

way to go forward, to help change things.

Th© dry dock job lasted six months, then work began to 

slow down. Mr. Spriggens told th© young men that if they 

wanted to 100k for work: someplac© ©Is© h© would starnp their 

union book "paid in full" to make it easier to find work. The
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married men with families stayed working at th© dry docks. I 

got my book stamped and left.
I started working part-time on ships as a 日crammer 

fsp?). My job was to hook a sling to a crane to help load raw 

日ugar or cotton on th© 日hip • After this I found some part- 

tim© work on th© railroad in Galveston, helping around the 

track日 in the yard. They had six or seven men working on th© 

track©, But this job on th© railroad ran out, so I went back 

looking for work. I was willing to try any kind of work.

I went looking for work all th© necxt week, with no 丄uck. 

I left Galveston and went to Crosby, Texas looking for 

another cousin, I didn^ have any luck rinding my cousin. So 

I went v?aIking down the old highway between Crosby and 

Houston. I walked for about an hour, when I spotted a 

brickyard right off the highway, which was in Green Bayou. I 

went to th© brickyard and asked th© foreman if h© was hiring, 

Th© boss, a German named Bill Schw^iner, said h© could put on 

two men. "You know anybody els©?" h© asked. エ thought about 

Joseph Godrey, my cousin in Galveston who was also out of 

work. I said let m© go back and get my cousin out of 

Galveston. I hopped a freight train back to Galveston. Ilhat 

was my transportation. I hit that freight like I owned it.

When my cousin and I returned to Green Bayou, we was put 

to work. I worked this open field digging up stump© until 

twelve o 1 clock noon * By this time エ was tired and most of all 

very hungry. I didn't have any money to buy any food, so a 

whit© fellow-employee asked if I was hungry, I said I was. H©
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took me to a store for some food and told m© h© would cover 

for it until I got paid. I worked in th© field the rest of 
th© day.

I didn't have any place to live, but I heard about a 

boardinghouse that was renting rooms. After work I went to 

th© boardinghouse and inquired about a room. I took th© room 

with board for a dollar fifty per w©ek. My cousin Joseph also 

stayed there.

Georg© War©, th© man who ran th© boardinghouse, had a 

daughter, Georgia Lee, that lived in Houston. W© used to go 

to Houston, and eventually Joseph married her. She still 

lives in Houston. Joseph later moved to Alaska and married 

somebody els© and had a son. He died years later in Alaska. 

They say h© choked on a chicken bone. So they said.

Th© salary at th© brickyard was twelve cents an hour. 

Payday was on Saturday. The next morning wh©n I w©nt to work, 

th© foreman took th© fieldworkers to work in th© brickyard. 

One© エ started working insid© the brickyard, I realized this 

work wasn't as hard as th© field work.

I worked molding bricks. I was a mud brick maker. You 

put th© mud into something like a mixer. One guy would feed 

it with th© dirt, and I b© taking it out. It was just like in 

a baking shop. You make three bricks at a time. Put them in 

th© mold, smooth off the top, put the molds on a pallet board 

and take them on a buggy to th© drying place where they 

stayed for a couple of weeks. Tlien they take th© bricks to a
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kiln in a big old building where they b u m  th© bricks. Old 

man Henderson was th© one in charge of th© kiln.

Old man Henderson was th© on© who got me to join th© 

NJ^ACP.Henderson lived in Houston but he'd com© and work at 

th© brickyard during th© week. On th© weekends he'd go back 

to his family• He used to t©丄1 m© about th© HFreedom*11 I 

wanted to know about this freedom. In th© evening after work 

h©*d tell about how th© NAACP was fighting to get freedom. H© 

talked to m© and Joseph. W© was searching for freedom, young 

men who wanted to be fr© © . エ know I wanted to b© free, and 

wanted to join something to get freedom. It was only 50 

cents a year to join, Tliis was around 1939. So I got my 

social security card and my NAACP card that same year.

Most of th© single men would go to Houston ©very 

Saturday. Georg© War© would take some of us in his little 

car. Georg© seemed to have his hand in everything. One 

Saturday I went to Houston to do some shopping. I went and 

bought m© a pair of trousers and a shirt to put on that 

/Sunday so I'd look sharp. While ェ was sitting on a bGnch 

waiting for Georg© to com© back by and pick m© up to go back 

to Green Bayou, I went to sleep. When I wok© up my damn 

package with my trousers and shirt was gone! I jumped up and 

looked around. I saw a policeman and asked, "Have you seen 

anybody with a package." He said, "I’v© seen plenty of people 

with packages, but I can*t stop everybody I see with a 

package." Tliat shows how stupid you can b© when you don't 

have knowledge. I learned the hard way. So that was my loss.
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When th© fellows finally cam© back to pick m© up, I was 

upset and angry and I told them about what had happened. They 

laughed all the way back to Green Bayou.

Meanwhile, I kept on working steadily in th© brickyard.

I was about seventeen years old now. Everyone on th© job 

thought I was much older. For entertainment after work, I 

learned how to box, gamble, and drink corn liquor* We used 

shoot die© and drink. Old man Bud Springer, an old whit© guy 

who worked there, h© used to make corn liquor and sell it to 

us. Georg© War© tried his hand at making c o m  liquor, too.

Mr. Bill, th© boss, used to b© a fighter. Sometime日 エ  

play around after work trying to imitate Jo© Louis. On© day 

Mr. Bill said, "You got a good 日tance, Brown Bomber. 11 

Everybody on th© job called m© "Brown Bomber" after Jo©

Louie. Mr. B i l l 日tart©d training me, and I had some pretty 

good fights. エ had a fight with a whit© guy and I knocked 

him out. 1*hen I had a fight with Sonny Boy Bradley and 

knocked him out. I thought I was h©ll1 Then they brought in 

Shorty Jeffrey from Beaumont, Texas. H© gave me a on©-two- 

three and knocked m© out. Shit, th© ring was spinning all 

around. I told Mr. Bill, "Uh, Uh, 3brother. I don't want no 

more boxing. You can forget about that, 11 H© said, "Brown 

Bomber, you got to get vAiupped sometimes. That1 s how you 

learn." But I was young and I couldn^t see it. As long as I 

was knocking them down that was okay, but when Shorty Jeffrey 

knocked m© out that was it. Mayb© I might have mad© a good 

fighter but I wasn't ready to go through th© hard part.
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There was on© guy named Red who worked at the other

brickyard who had a wife named Lena. Now this guy was very 

jealous. On© Sunday my friend 0tsey Pryor cam© by in his car 

and picked m© up to to Houston. I had made a good lick 

that day. I think I had won about fifteen, twenty dlo丄lars and 

I wanted to celebrate. Lena was there so I said 11 Come on 

Lena, you want to go?" I bought her a drink to get her to go 

with me. So we went up to Houston to get something to ©at. 

When I got back to Green Bayou, somebody say, "Man, Red 

losing for you. He hea,d y〇u .as out with Lena in Houston,- 

When I heard that I didn't know what Red might try to when he 

got drunk. エ went to old man Schweiner's house. エ told him I 

wanted to get his shotgun. "What you want a shotgun for,

Brown Bomber?" "Red is looking for m© to kill me." "What you 

do? 11 "His wife was in a car with Otsey Pryor and I and 

somebody went and told him." H© said, "Red ain«t gone bother 

you. Go on back horn©.** Turned out Red wasn't looking for me. 

People just to丄d me that li© to get me scared. And it did 

scare me. I aidn•t run around with Lena no more.

On© morning on my day off from work, I was standing in 

th© brickyard in front of the gas burner warming myself. 

Suddenly my pants caught on nr©. Th© flames was all around 

my legs. After a few minutes I was able to put the flames 

out. But my leg was burned so badly I went and asked th© 

brickyard manager if he could send m© to 日©e a doctor. Th© 

coirpanv managers said they couldn't send m© to see a doctor
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b©caus© I got burned on my day off and not wh©n エ vraB 

working.

On my own, I managed to get to Houston to see a black 

doctor I knew about. I didn't have any money but when th© 

doctor saw how badly my leg was burned h© treated me. Ilh© 

doctor said I could pay him later and I should com© back in 

two weeks. H© thought he could get me some insurance money.

As days passed, my leg began to get worse, I didn»t have any 

money to travel back and forth to Houston to se© th© doctor, 

bo I caught a freight train and went back to Galveston. Unci© 

Tot and Aunt T-Bab© sent m© to another doctor. It took my leg 

three month© to heal.

Immediately I started looking for a in Galveston.

Jobs still was scare© the same way it was when ェ first left. 

So I put in for my unemployment insurance. I worked on odd 

jobs in hotels, working on trucks, and cleaning yards. It 

took months before I heard from th© insurance company. When 

th© answer cam© by mail th© letter said： "W© th© company of 

th© brickyard can^ pay you any insurance." After getting 

this answer, I returned to th© brickyard.

I was back on th© job for a month. 111©n on© of my fellow 

workers whose name was String took ill.H© had been going 

back and forth to see hi© doctor. W© aian't know th© nature 

of hi日 illness, but, we did know his doctor told him not to 

drink alcohol as long as h© was taking shot日 . One day he went 

to visit his doctor and had a shot. The same day, h© drank 

some alcohol and died instantly in Houston. W© brought his
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body back to th© brickyard. Tli© fellows and I didn't know any 

of his relatives, becaus© h© n©ver spok© 0f any. W© took up a 

collection; each on© gave two dollars. We buried his body in 

a nearby poppy field. I spok© th© last words over String's 

body. I said hd was a happy fellow. H© always laughed, and 

never had any trouble at th© brickyard. I talked about th© 

hair grease he mad© out of ly© that he used to slick down hie 

hair and make it look good, H© was a lot of fun, smiling and 

talking. W© would miss old String.

I went to Houston to live with Aunt Bernice. Sh© had 

moved there and gotten married. X went to th© unenployment 

office and registered for work. A week later they gave me a 

job working in a cafeteria in th© shipyard. Tliis shipyard 

wasn't too far from Houston. I rod© th© bus to work until I 

met a f©丄10w who had a car, then エ rod© with him. Wages m s  

ilv© cents an hour, paid on ©very Friday. Th© 30b wasn't 

paying much, so I left and went 100king one© more for a job.

I heard men was needed in Arizona to work on th© 

railroad. I signed up for th© job. Before I left, I was 

examined and given three days to get ready to l©av© for 

Arizona. Ilhen I was given a pass to catch a train. I left 

Houston on© night about ten o'clock to go to Tucson, Arizona.

When I arrived in Tucson, I was sent to a commissary in 

the train station to buy some food and whatever I needed to 

take into th© caimp with m©. When I entered th© camp, I 

noticed rows of tents was up for th© workers to sleep in. On© 

of the foremen pointed out a tent for me to sleep in. Then h©
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left. Sine© it was so quiet and all the men had gone to bed,

I went into my tent and went to bed.

Before dawn I could hear a loud whistle ringing in camp. 

ェ figured lit was time to get up and get dressed for work.

When I pulled th© entrance of my tent back, I saw th© men 

standing outside of their tents getting ready for breakfast, 

so, I joined, them. I introduced myself to some of the men. 

When breakfast was over, I went to work on th© railroad. All 

the men in camp was black men, except th© whit© timekeeper, 

th© whit© foreman, and a few Chines© cooks. All th© employ©©© 

was given three meals a day . This was my first time ©ating 

Chines© food, but before long Chines© food cam© to b© on© of 

my favorite dishes.

I worked on th© extra gang, which is a gang of over a 

hundred men working on th© railroad to maintain th© tracks.

W© had to tamp ties and raise the tracks to keep them level. 

They needed these extra gangs because during th© war years 

there might b© eight or nine or more trains a day that would 

pass along th© tracks. I was a flagman. I worked way up on 

th© tracks to signal th© trains to slow down. I had my flag 

and th© toirpedoes that I used to signal th© engineer, When 

you se© a train coming you put down a red torpedo on the 

track. When th© train hit it and it went off, Bam!,h© would 

know to slow down. Then you put another one down to 日10w him 

down more, and a third meant h© should stop, I used my hands 

to signal to on© train how far ahead th© next train was.
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By ten o 1 clock in the morning th© hot sun v?as beaming 

down on my back. No houses to b© seen,, no people passing by, 

just m© out in this hot desert working on th© railroad. When 

th© day was over and th© men was back in camp for th© night, 

w© sat around together and talked about the things w© planned 

to do when w© got home. Sometimes w© gambled a little; other 

times w© took trips to Mexico.
Th© v©ry first timei I went: to Mexico I had th© time of 

my life. Although I couldn't speak Spanish, I ran into a 

little Mexican boy who spok© Spanish for m©. This little boy 

was about six years old. H© took me any place I thought I 

wanted to visit. In and out of different restaurarlts, 

theaters, and to see plenty of girls. Th© boy told m© that if 

I didn’t like th© girls h© took m© to s©©, h© would tak© m© 

to see his two sisters and his mother. I didn't lik© th© idea 

of going to his house, so I told him I would settle for 日om© 

of th© other girls h© took m© to see. H© did all these things 

for one dollar.
On© night when I went to a room with a girl, this little 

boy was still waiting until I cam© out. It amazed m© how this 

boy knew his way around town. H© walked down th© street with 

m© smoking a big cigar. No on© seemed to pay any attention to 

him. When I was ready to leave Mexico h© took m© to th© 

immigration office to let th© authorities know I was leaving. 

After my first visit to Mexico, I mad© several more trips and 

each time I went this little boy would b© waiting for m© to 

show me th© town.
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My job on the railroad was going alright until on© 

morning 150 black men went out on strike. What happened was 

that when w© knocked off from work ©very day, we'd put the 

handcar back on the track to get back to camp. This 

particular day in loading the water kegs som© water had 

spilled on the seat, and a black worker named San Antonio saw 

it and decided to stand up rather than sit in the water.
When the white foreman saw San Antonio standing he told him
to sit down. San Antonio said no because there was water on 

the seat. Th© foreman told San Antonio again to sit down and 

again h© refused. When w© got back to th© carrp th© foreman 

told San Antonio h© was fired because h© disobeyed th© 

foreman's orders. San Antonio told him, HI wasn't gonna sit 

in that water no matter who 1 s orders it was . 11

Now I was watching this and I was already a union man.

In fact, I still had my union book. So ェ got to the boys and 
I said, "Alright, let's get together tonight and have a 
meeting." At the mseting ェ baid that we shouldn't go back to

work until the foreman put San Antonio back to work. All of 

them agreed. Th© next morning th© foreman got out there and 

blew his whistle. W© stood by th© tracks looking at him but 

w© wouldn't move. "Alright boys, let's go" h© said. Ill© 

boys had already at th© meeting said, "Brown, ar© you going 

to speak?H and I said, "Oh, yeah, 1 111 speak, 11 And I showed 

them my union book. So I told th© foreman, "W© ain't going 

until you put San Antonio back to work,1' "I can’t do that, 

he's fired now . '1 I said, "Well,I • m going to call the
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roadmaeter in Yuma." When I said that, shit, the foreman got 

nervous and said, "Okay, go back to work everybody, 1 1m gonna 

put San Antonio back to work," H© didn1t want to face that 

roadmaster, th© district boss, who could have fired him for 

not handling th© situation. So w© got San Antonio back on th© 

job by taking action. I was th© only union man out there, but 

I led the struggle. It was a victory for us.

After this experience was over, I realized that unity 

with other employees was what mad© th© foreman act. If all 

employees united together on jobs there would b© less trouble 

and less firings would com© from the employer.

Wh©n I came to work on the railroad, I left my 

sweetheart, Ruth, back in Houston. I had met Ruth through 

Aunt Bernice. Sh© used to visit Aunt Bernice. Bernice knew 

Ruth's mama. Bernice invited Ruth there on© time when I was 

visiting and that's how I m©t her.

As time passed while I was in Arizona I never heard from 

Ruth or ©v©n got a letter. So エ began to worry 沾 out her and 

wanted to see her. I mad© up my mind I would go back to 

Houston and try to find Ruth. So I told th© foreman I wanted 

a pass to go home. He gave m© a pass and I left Tucson and 

went back to Houston. When I arrived in Houston I went 

directly to th© house sh© was living in when I left, but th© 

people living m  th© house told m© sh© didn't live there any 

more. Weeks passed. I went ©verywhere エ thought ©he'd be, 

with no luck. ェ n©v©r found Ruth. Lonesome and heartbroken, ェ 

left Houston and went back to Galveston.
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I didn't stay in Galveston very long with the work 

situation being th© same as when I left. Men was sti丄1 b©ing 

sent to work on th© railroad. When I went to th© train 

station, I sat down on a bench and my mind started wandering 

concerning what I should do next. I on丄y had on© nickel in my 

pocket. After I sat awhile, I got up from th© bench and went 

and asked th© ticket agent if they needed a man on th© 

section hand. Th© ticket agent looked on a 丄ist and asked if 

I wanted th© job. I told him, 11 Yes, I want the job." After 

th© ticket agent signed m© up for the job, he gave me a pass 

on th© train and a letter to get some food from th© 

commissary. I bought a loaf of bread, some cans of beans, a 

can of wieners, mackerel, packs of cookies.

エ was on my way to Bar日tow, California, a small town not 

too far from 11os Angeles. As I sat in this small train 

station waiting for th© train to arrive, I noticed I was 

sitting next to an old man and his wife. They asked m© if I 

was hungry. I told them I wasn't hungry, I had some food.. But 

they insisted on giving m© a slice of watermelon, which I 

accepted. By this time th© train pulled into th© station. 

Sometime lat© that night I arrived in Barstow. エ stayed in 

th© station all night. 1*h© next morning I v?alk©d from th© 

little town to th© section houses. I gave th© foreman my work 

slip and started to work on th© section gang that Monday 

morning.

A section gang is a group of about six men who maintain 

a certain section of track. Different section qangs took car©
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of different sections of track* On my section gang w© had two 

brothers and some Spanish guys. The Spanish guys would tak© 

me to Mexico ©very night with long stories about Mexico when 

w© got off work. The two black guys was married and they 

would tell me all about Iboe Angeles, and encouraged m© to go 

there. Th© guys and their wives used to visit Los Angeles 

frequently 011 railroad passes. Sometimes they would bring a 
newspaper back . エ was wondering how com© they didn't stay in 
Los Angeles. They was telling m© how good it was but her© 

they was on th© section gang. Maybe they wanted to get rid of 

me, I didn't know. ■Anyway, it got me to thinking about going 

to Los Angeles.
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body back to the brickyard. Tlie f©110we and I didn't know any 

of his relatives, because h© never spoke of any. W© took up a 

collection; each one gave two dollars. W© buried his body in 

a nearby poppy field. ェ spoke th© last words over String's 

body . エ said he was a happy fellow. H© always laughed, and 

never had any trouble at the brickyard. ェ talked about th© 

hair grease h© mad© out of ly© that h© used to slick down m s  

hair and make it look good. He was a lot of fun, smiling and 

talking. W© would miss old String.

I went to Houston to live with Aunt Bernice. Sh© had

: :r  : i : i ~ r ; ：a
job working in a cafeteria in the smpyard. T̂ his shipyard 

wasn1!: too far from Houston. I rode th© bus to work until I 

met a fellow who had a car, then エ rod© with him. Wages were 

five cents an hour, paid on ©very Friday. Tli© job wasn't 

paying much, so I left and went looking one© more for a job.

I heard men w©r© needed in Arizona to work on th© 

railroad. I signed up for th© job. Before I left, エ was 

examined and given three days to get ready to leave for 

Arizona. 1*h©n エ was given a pass to catch a train. I left 

Houston on© night about ten o*clock to go to Tucson, Arizona.

When I arrived m  Tucson, I was sent to a commissary in 

th© train station to buy some food and whatever I needed to 

take into th© camp with me. Viftien I entered th© carrp, I 

noticed rows of tents were up for th© workers to s丄©ep in.

On© of th© foremen pointed out a tent for m© to sleep in.
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Then h© left. Sine© it was so quiet and all the men had gone 

to bed, I went into my tent and went to bed.

Before dawn エ could h©ar a loud whistle ringing in camp, 

I figured it was time to get up and get dressed for work.

When I pulled the entrance of my tent back, I saw the men 

standing outside of their tents getting ready for breakfast, 

so, I joined them. I introduced myself to some of the men. 

When breakfast was over, I went to work 0n the railroad. All 

th© men in camp were black men, except th© whit© timekeeper, 

the white foreman, and a few Chines© cooks. All th© employees 

were given three meals a day . This was my nrst time eating 

Chinese food, but before long Chines© food cam© to b© on© of 

my favorite dishes.

I worked on th© extra gang, which is a gang of over a 

hundred men working on th© railroad to maintain th© tracks.

W© had to tamp ties and raise th© tracks to keep them level. 

They needed these extra gangs becus© during th© war years 

there might b© eight or nine or more trains a day that would 

pass along th© tracks. I was a flagman. I worked way up on 

th© tracks to signal th© trains to slow down. エ had my ilag 

and the torpedoes that I used to signal the engineer. When 

you se© a train coming you put down a red torpedo on th© 

track. When th© train hit it and it went off, Bamし he would 

know to slow down. Then you put another on© down to slow him 

down more, and a third meant h© should stop. I used my hands 

to sicrnal to one train how far ahead the next train was.
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By ten 〇 •clock in th© morning the hot sun was beaming 

down on my back, No houses to b© seen, no people passing by, 

just m© out in this hot desert working on th© railroad. When 

th© day was over and th© men were back in camp for th© night, 

w© sat around together and talked about th© things w© planned 

to do when w© got home. Sometimes w© gambled a little; other 

times w© took trips to Mexico.

The very first tim© I went to Mexico I had th© time of 

my life. Although I couldn't speak Spanish, エ ran into a 

littl© Mexican who spok© Spani日h for m©. This little boy 

was about six years old. H© took me any place I thought I 

wanted to visit. In and out of different restaurants, 

theaters, and to se© plenty of girls. Th© boy told m© that if 

I didn^t lik© the girls h© took m© to see, h© would tak© me 
to s©© his two sisters and his mother. I didn't like th© idea 

of going to his house, so エ told him エ would settle for some 

of th© other girls h© took m© to see. H© did all these things 

for on© dollar.

On© night when I went to a room with a girl, this little 

boy was still waiting until I cam© out. It amazed m© how this 

boy knew his way around town. He walked down the street with 

m© smoking a big cigar. Ho on© seemed to pay any attention to 

him. When エ was ready to leave Mexico h© took me to the 

immigration office to let th© authorities know I was leaving. 

After my nrst visit to Mexico, I made several more trips and 

each time ェ went this little boy would be waiting for m© to 

show m© th© town.

Ch 2/ Off the Plantation/ Page 1 8



My job on the railroad was going alright until on© 

morning 150 black men went out on strike. What happened was 

that when w© knocked off from work every day, we'd put th© 

handcar back on the track to get back to camp. lOiis 

particular day in loading th© water kegs some water had 

spilled on th© seat, and a black worker named San Antonio saw 

it and decided to stand up rather than sit in the water.

When th© white foreman saw San Antonio 日tanding he told him 

to sit down. San Antonio said no because there was water on 

the seat. Th© foreman told San Antonio again to sit down and 

again he refused. When w© got back to th© camp th© foreman 

told San Antonio h© was fired because h© disobeyed th© 

foreman1s orders. San Antonio told him, "I wasn't gonna sit 

in that water no matter who*s orders it was . 11

Now I was watching this and I was already a union man.

In fact, I still had my union book. So I got to th© boys and 

I said, "Alright, let's get together tonight and have a 

meeting." At the meeting I said that we 日houldn't go back to 

work until th© foreman put San Antonio back to work. All of 

them agreed. Th© next morning th© foreman got out there and 

blew his whistle. W© stood by th© tracks looking at him but 

w© wouldn't move. "Alright boys, let •日 go.1 he said. The 

boys had already at th© meeting said, "Brown, ar© you going 

to speak? 11 and I said, "Oh, yeah, I 111 speak.1* And I showed 

them my union book. So I told th© foreman, "W© ain't going 

until you put San Antonio back to work . 11 "ェ can*t do that, 

h©'s fired now." I said, HW©11, I'm going to call th©
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roadmaster in Yuma." When I ©aid that, shit, the foreman got 

nervous and said, HOkay, go back to work everybody. 1 1m gonna 

put San Antonio back to work . 11 H© didn't want to face that 

roadmaster, th© district boss, who could have fired him for 

not handling the situation* So w© got San Antonio back on th© 

job by taking action. ェ was th© only union man out theref but 

I led th© struggle. ェt was a victory for us.

After this experience was over, I realized that unity 

with other employees was what made the foreman act. If a■丄丄 

employees united together on job日 ther© would b© 丄ess trouble 

and less firings would come from th© employer.

When I cam© to work on th© railroad,ェ left my 

sweetheart, Ruth, back in Houston. ェ had met Ruth through 

Aunt Bernice. Sh© used to visit Aunt Bernice. Bernice knew 

Ruth's mama. Bernic© invited Ruth there on© time when I was 

visiting and that *s how I met her.

As time pa日sed whil© I was in Arizona I never heard from 

Ruth or even got a letter. So I began to worry about her and 

wanted to s©© her . ェ mad© up my mind I would go back to 

Houston and try to find Ruth. So ェ told th© foreman I wanted 

a pass to go home. He gave me a pass and I left Tucson and 

went back to Houston. When ェ arrived in Houston ェ went 

directly to th© house sh© was living in when I left, but the 

people living in th© house told m© sh© didn't live there any 

more. Weeks passed. I went everywhere ェ thought she'd be, 

with no luck. ェ never found Ruth. Lonesome and heartbroken, ェ 

left Houston and went back to Galveston.
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I didn't stay in Galveston very long with th© work 

situaLtion being th© sam© as when I left. Men w©r© still being1
sent to work on th© railroad. When I went to th© train

station, I sat down on a bench and my mind started wandering 

concerning what I should, do next. I only had on© nickel in my 

pocket. After I sat awhile, エ got up from the bench and went 
and asked th© ticket agent if they needed a man on th© 

section hand. T̂ h© ticket agent looked on a list and asked if 

I wanted the job. I told him, "Yes, I want the job." After 

th© ticket agent signed m© up for th© job, he gave m© a pass 
on the train and a letter to get some food from th© 

commieary. I bought a loaf of bread, some cans of beans, a 

can of wieners, mackerel, packs of cookies.
I was on my to California, a small town not

too far from Ii〇s Angeles. As I sat in this small train 

station waiting for th© train to arrive, I noticed エ was 

sitting next to an old man and his wife. They asked m© hi I 

was hungry• エ  told them I wasn_t hungry, I had 日ome food. But 

they insisted on giving m© a slice of watermelon, which I 

accepted. By this time th© train pulled into th© station. 

Sometime late that night I arrived in Barstow. I stayed in 

th© station all night. The next morning エ walked from the 

little tovm to th© section houses. エ gav© the foreman my work 

slip and started to work on th© section gang that Monday 

morning.
A section gang is a group of about six men who maintain 

a certain section of track, Differrent section gangs took
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car© of aitf©rent sections of track. On my section gang w© 

had two brothers and some Spanish guys. They Spanish guys 

would take m© to Mexico ©very night with stories about Mexico 

when w© got off work. Th© two black guys were married and 

they would tell m© all about Los Angeles, and encouraged m© 

to go there. I was wondering hew com© they didnt stay in Los 

Angeles. They were telling m© how good it was but her© they 

were on the section gang. Maybe they wanted to get rid of m©, 

ェ didn't know. Anyway, it got me to thinking about going to 

Los Angeles.
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Chapter 2/Off The Plantation

(ver. 2, 6/18/98)

I didn*t want to look for support from my cousin Esther, 

bo th© next day I went looking for work, and was hired as a 

houseboy for the LaBlonch© (LaBlanc ?) family.

My duties included cleaning, shopping and running 

errands for Margaret, their daughter. I used to do things 

like go to th© store and buy shoes for her. She'd tell m© th© 

size and I’d go get them. I bought her powder, soap, things 

like that. She probably was too lazy to go herself, so she 

sent me.

Margaret was in her twenties, a tall, slim brunette. She 

was going to school. There were three other daughters, but 

they were older and married had moved out, Margaret was th© 

only on© left in th© house. Mr日 . LaBlonch© was handicappedt 
she couldn't us© her left hand.

Th© LaBlonches were a family of moderate income in this 

small town. They also had an upstairs maid. I wae given a 

little shack in th© back of their house to live in# which was 

part of my meager wages. Ifhe LaBlonches had two grandchildren 

by another daughter about th© same age as I . Their 

grandchildren and I got along fin© together. Mrs. LaBlonch© 

knew th© salary sh© was giving me was smal丄， so sh© told me 

to plant a garden in back of the house, l̂ i© money I earned 

from selling whatever vegetables I grew would be mine to us©
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for things like movies or pocketchang© ， I grew different 

kinds of vegetables in my garden. I gave Mrs. LaBlonch©'s 

family som© vegetables and sold th© rest up and down the 

streets. I pulled a little red wagon filled up to th© top 

with vegetables.

There wer© times when I got very lonesome in my little 

shack, ©specially when th© day was over and night began. One 

thing for sure, I did have a German shepherd, Laddie, who 

followed m© everywhere I went, even to th© movies. He stayed 

outside u n t i l エ cam© out, エ loved this dog. He really was a 

devoted friend.

On© day X was walking along selling my vegetables, when 

a gang of whit© boys cam© up to m© and wanted to start a 

fight. I told th©m I lived at th© LaBlonch©'s home and worked 

for them. They were surprised to hear this and walked on down 

the street. I didn't have that trouble anymore.

My salary was two dollars a week, plus meals. At first エ 

at© my meals in th© backyard under a tree close to th© house. 

They gave m© a wooden table and a chair back there. But 

Margarert didn't like that, Margaret had vi日it©d New York and 

seen how black and white psopl© lived there, and she 

explained to her mother that making me ©at in th© back yard 

was wrong. Margaret said she didn't believ© in discriminating 

against any race of people. Her mother probably hadn't 

travelled and didn*t know any better.エ lik©d Margaret• She 

was friendly toward m© and she seemed intelligent. If sh白 

believed in discrimination sh© wouldn't have trusted m© qoing
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to the store for her. ェ realized that not all white peopl© 

were mean and prejudiced; some, like Margaret, tried to b© 

decent toward black people. From then on I at© at th© kitchen 

table and I was treated better than before around th© house.

ェ got acquainted with the black maid who worked 

upstairs. Sh© did th© cleaning and th© washing and ironing.ェ 

used to give her some of th© vegetables from my garden. She 

was forty years old. She was a very nice lady* Sh© fixed my 

breakfast ©very morning.

I worked for th© LaBlonches for nearly two years. But I 

decided to leave to better my condition. The little  money ェ 

was making wasn't enough. I needed to buy my own clothes and 

shoes. On© day ェ jumped up and wanted to get to stepping, so 

I packed my suitcase and left to look for some work that paid 

more.

I went back to Esther's house and stayed about a month. 

Esther was nice to m© but her daughter and I couldn't get 

along. iQiings began to get unpleasant around th© house. It 

seemed to m© that cousin Esther*s daughter was mentally 

disturbed. Often w© got into arguments. Sh© slapped m© in th© 

face on© day. I told cousin Jessie about how sh© was acting 

around th© house when everyone was out. H© didn't like it, 

and told her never to slap me again. I didn't want to mak© 

matters worse, so I left Melville.

I went to a little  farm to visit some friends of mine, 

Annie and Buddy Harris. Wh©riエ arriv©d ther©, they were out 

in th© fields planting potatoes. I stayed and helped them
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plant potatoes for about a week. I felt good helping them 

with the planting cause they 抑 re struggling sharecropper日 

and they appreciated my help.

エ left them and stayed for a day or so with cousin 

Horae© Bertrand. When I was leaving I asked him if he could 

give m© some money for travelling, and h© gave me a chicken, 

which I was happy to get. When I was v?alking down the street, 

I saw a man coming toward m© who was dressed like h© was on 

his way to work. I stopped him and asked if h© wanted to buy 

a chicken. H© answered yes. I sold him the chicken for forty 

cents. With forty cents in my pocket, I went looking for a 

friend's house to ask him to travel with m© and show m© the 

way to Galveston, Texas. I wanted to get to Galveston because 

I knew Unci© Tot and ftunt T-Bab© were now living there.

Oak Tar was my friend’s name. When I found Oak Tar he 

didn't have any money but h© was willing to hobo with m© and 

show m© the way. First, w© hoboed to Opelusas, Louisiana.

Then w© jumped on a freight train for Galveston. One© insiae 

the boxcar it v?as so cold w© had to make a fir©. As w© 

traveled w© didn't have anything to ©at all the way. When Oak 

Tar and I finally arrived, the cold wind seemed lik© it went 

straight through our bodies. Unci© Tot and Aunt T-Bab© were 

so happy to se© me, they hugged and kissed m© and fixed us 

some dinner. When dinner was over, Oak Tar went back to 

Louisiana.

I spent a few days looking around Galveston. I noticed 

one day when I was walking down the street that some people
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were coming out of a building carrying bags of food. I asked 

th© people if I could get some of that food. They told m© to 

go on in and ask for some. When I got inside th© building and 

asked for th© food, a lady, who was sitting behind a desk, 

told m© to sign some papers. When I signed th© papers, I got 

th© food some cornmeal, flour, plums and grapefruits. I was 

so glad to get this food I couldn't wait to get home to show 

Aunt T-Bab© and Unci© Tot what ェ had. When Unci© Tbt saw th© 

food, h© got very angry at m©. Apparently, th© building I went 

into to get th© food from was th© Welfare Office. Unci© Tot 

explained to m© I shouldn't go to th© Welfare Office to get 

food because that food was for people who were out of work and 

didn't have any other means of support. Even though ェ didn't 

quit© understand what h© was talking about, I didn't go there 

ever again.

One evening passing the dock I noticed some men were 

giving away bananas. 1*h©y gave m© some,日0 I took: them. I 

didn  ̂ know what reaction Unci© Tot would have. But he didn't 

say anything to m© about that. I ûst wanted something 

different to ©at for a change.

It was so nice being with my unci© and aunt, but jobs 

were hard to find. No on© was hiring. A government agency 

had a work project called th© Civilian Conservation Corps.

This project was designed for young boys who wanted to work.

I signed th© necessary forms so ェ could begin working.

However, th© next morning when I was supposed to report to go 

on th© job, ェ was walking down th© street and pains started
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in th© lower part of my stomach. I fell unconscious in the 

streets. Someone called the ambulance. When I wok© up I was 

laying in bed at John Seely Hospital. Hanging in front of my 

bed was a chart that said "C.C.C boy, 11 I was uncertain about 

the nature of my illness. Before ェ realized what was 

happening to me, a team of doctors was wheeling m© down th© 

corridor toward th© operating room. I saw all these doctors 

standing around me. Then this old doctor cam© up and asked me 

what was wrong. I said I didr̂ t know, but I didn't want to b© 

operated on. Th© old doctor told th© others to take m© back 

to my room. Then h© cam© in carrying in his hands a catheter, 

which h© inserted and pulled out. It was later that I found 

out my urine had stopped. On© thing for sure, ェ didn't have 

any more trouble of that Kind.

When I thought about that job which I had signed up for 

at the C. C. C* canp, ェ decided not to take it, because the 

government was only paying twenty dollars a month. Five 

dollars would b© for myself and they would send th© rest of 

th© email amount to my aunt.

While I was looking for some other work, I used to go to 

th© courhous© in Galveston and listen to th© cases. I had 

heard people talking about th© courthouse and th© law and 

a丄 丄, and I was interested. I was also interested because I 

remembered Uncle Tot's trouble in Louisiana with th© whit© 

man* Tot got away to Galveston, but th© Sheriff in 10uisana 

found out where h© was and got the police in Texas to arrest 

him on his job at th© dry dock日 . They brought him back to
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Louisiana and put him in ja il in Opelusa日 . I was s till 

living in Louisiana then. But they had to let him out because 

th© whit© man they claimed Tot killed, his mother cam© to the 

courthouse and told them, "Tot did not k ill my son." Sh© 

knew h© didn't do it. Some other white man had don© it.

They had to let Tot go. When h© got back to Galveston, th© 

superintendent at the dry docks, a man named Spider, let him 

have his job back. Tot was a good worker and Spider saia, "I 

don«t car© if h© killed every whit© man in Louisiana, I want 

him back on th© job! 11

So this was on© reason I was interested in what went on 

at th© courthouse. I noticed that they had a lot more black 

folks in there than whites on trial and going to ja il for 

various crimes. It seemed like something was wrong, but I 

couldn̂  pinpoint exactly what. ェ didn.t really understand 

how racism worked at that tim©# but I knew something was 

wrong. It wouldn't b© until I got into th© union that I would 

understand better. But I could see that black folks was not 

getting equal justice. And it mad© m© start to thinking.

Every morning for three weeks I would g。and line up on 

th© dock for work* All th© foremen would come over on a 

little  boat and pick th© people they wanted to hire. The dry 

docks wa日 on the other sid© of the bay. On this particular 

moming1 they hired about 30 men, and ェ wa日 011© of them. W© 

were examined and signed up to work as common laborers 

scaling and painting ships. Each man was given ironto© shoes 

and a helmet for safety. Payday was on Fridays•
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I was doing common labor -- sometimes running the 

scaling gun, or painting, or down in the double hold cleaning 

out the bottom, which was dangerous work. Just like they did 

in Texas City, Texas when that damned ship blowed up. But I 

was young and I didn̂ t know how dangerous it was.

Soon I found out that you had to join the union. This 

was the union of common laborers, a black union. Unci© Tot 

was a member of the union. Mr. Spriggens, the president, told 

Uiicl© Tot, "Your boy is young. You'll have to stand for him 

to get his book. 11 So Mr. Spriggens signed m© up and gave m© 

my black union book.

Later on w© went on strike for better wages. This was in 

about 1938. Th© common laborers were only making 35 cents and 

hour. They put m© on th© picket line at night. That was my 

first time on a picket line. Th© whit© guys in th© other 

unions, th© boilermakers, th© carpenters, they respected our 

picket lines and wouldn't cross th© line. I was proud to b© 

in the union and on strike because my Unci© Tot was a strong 

union man. I remember during the strike Unci© Tot would wak© 

up in th© morning and tell Aunt T-Bab©, "Hurry up an fix; my 

breakfast, T-Bafo©; I got to go on duty." That's what h© said 

about going to th© picket line; h© was proud of it and called 

it Hgoing on duty. 11 H© was picketing during the day, and I 

picketed at night. It was th© first time either of us was on 

a picket line and h© inspired me.

Th© strike lasted three months. Before th© strike, the 

common laborers were receiving thirty-five cents an hour.
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When the strike finally was settled, the wages were fifty 

cents an hour. Afterwards, all common laborers joined the 

union. Now this was my first involvement with any union 

activity.

Jobs those days were hard for a black man to find, 

except on farms and plantations, where waĝs were so low you 

could barely live off of it.

I thought about all the black people like my cousins who 

were sharecroppers for whit© plantation owner©. Black 

families stayed on some of their land and picked and chopped 

cotton at just above starvation wages. Î i© living 

arrangements mostly created hardship since large families 

w©r© forced to live in crowded on©- and two- room hous ©s.

There was no running water, only outdoor toilet日 ，and many 

were forced to sleep on floors. Families didn't have enough 

money to buy new clothing The wiiit© plantation owners sold 

them hand-me-down clothing.

Some black families moved off th© plantations to get 

T〇be in the cities. Some were lucky; others went back to the 

farm. Black children worked in the fields with little  or no 

education.

The union mad© m© feel that I could do something for 

poor people like myself and my cousins. The union gave m© a 

way to go forward, to help change tnings.

The dry dock job lasted six months, then work began to 

slow dovm. Mr. Spriggens told the young men that if they 

wanted to look for work someplace else h© would stamp their
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union book "paid in fu ll11 to make it easier to find work. The 

married men with families stayed working at th© dry docks. I 

got my book stamped and left.

I started working part-time on ships as a scrummer 

(sp?)• My job was to hook a sling to a crane to help load raw 

sugar or cotton on th© ship. After this ェ found some part- 

time work on th© railroad in Galveston, helping around th© 

tracks in th© yard. They had six or seven men working on th© 

tracks. But this job on th© railroad ran out, so I went back 

looking for work. I was willing to try any kind of work.

I went looking for work all th© next week, with no luck. 

I left Galveston and went to Crosby, Texas looking for 

another cousin.ェ didn̂ t have any luck finding my cousin. So 

ェ went walking down the old highway between Crosby and 

Houston. I walked for about an hour, when I spotted a 

brickyard right off th© highway, which was in Green Bayou.ェ 

went to th© brickyard and asked th© foreman if h© was hiring. 

The boss, a German named Bill Schweiner, said he could put on 

two men. 11 You know anybody ©Is©?*' he asked. ェ thought about 

Joseph Godrey, my cousin in Galve日ton who was also out of 

work. I 日aid 丄et m© go back; and get my c：0u日 in out of 

Galveston. I hopped a freight train back to Galveston, î hat 

was my transportation. I hit that freight like I owned i t .

When my cousin and ェ returned to Gr©en Bayou, w© were 

put to work. I worked this open field digging up stumps until 

twelve o'clock noon. By this time ェ was tired and most of all 

very hungry, I didn̂ t have any money to buy any food,日o a
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white r©丄 10w-©nploye© asked if I was hungiry. I said I was. He 

took m© to a store for some food and told m© h© would cover 

for it until I got paid. エ worked in th© fi©ld the r©st of 

th© day.

I didn't have any place to live, but I heard about a 

boardinghouse that was renting rooms. After work I went to 

th© boardinghouse and inquired about a room. I took th© room 

with board for a dollar fifty  per week. My cousin Joseph also 

stayed there.

Georg© War©, th© man who ran th© boardinghouse, had a 

daughter, Georgia Lee, that lived in Houston. W© used to go 

to Houston, and eventually Joseph married her. She s till 

lives in Houston. Joseph later moved to Alaska and married 

somebody ©Ise and had a son. He died year日 later in Alaska. 

They say h© choked on a cnicken bon©.

The 日alary at th© brickyard was twelve cents an hour. 

Payday was on Saturday. Th© next morning when エ went to work, 

the foreman took: the fie丄dworkers to work in th© brickyard. 

One© I started working insid© th© brickyard, I realized this 

work wasn't as hard as th© field work.

エ worked molding bricks• I was a mud brick maker. You 

put th© mud into something lik© a mixer. On© guy would feed 

it with th© dirt, and I b© taking it out. It was just like in 

a baking shop. You make three bricks at a time. Put them in 

the mold, smooth off th© top, put th© molds on a pallet board 

and take them on a buggy to th© drying place where they 

stayed for a couple of weeks. T?h©n they take th© bricks to a
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kiln in a big old building where they bum th© bricks. Old 

man Frick was the on© in charge of the kiln.

Old man Frick was th© on© who got me to join th© NAA.CP. 

Frick lived in Houston but he'd com© and work at th© 

brickyard during the week. On th© weekends he'd go back to 

his family. H© used to tell m© about th© ••Freedom.'* I wanted 

to know about this freedom. In th© evening after work he'd 

tell about how the NAA.CP was fighting to get freedom. He 

talked to m© and Joseph. W© were searching for freedom, 

young men who wanted to b© free. I know I wanted to b© free, 

and wanted to join 日om©thing to get freedom. It was only 50 

cents a year to join. Ifhie was around 1939. So I got my 

social secfurity card and rrty HAA.CP card that same year.

Most of th© single men would go to Houston ©very 

Saturday. Georg© War© would take som© of us in his little  

car. Georg© seemed to have his hand in everything. One 

Saturday エ went to Houston to do some shopping. I went and 

bought m© a pair of trousers and a shirt to put on that 

Sunday so I'd look sharp. While I was sitting on a bench 

waiting for Georg© to com© back by and pick m© up to go back 

to Green Bayou,エ w©nt to sleep. When I wok© up my damn 

package with my trousers and shirt was gonel I jumped up and 

looked around. I saw a policeman and asked, "Hav© you seen 

anybody with a package. 111 H© said, 111' v© seen plenty of people 

with packages, but I can’t stop everybody I 日©© with a 

package." That shows how stupid you can b© when you don't 

hav© knowledge. I learned th© hard way. So that was my Iobb.
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When th© fellows finally cam© back to pick me up, I was 

upset and angry and I told them about what had happened. They 

laughed all the way back to Green Bayou.

Meanwhile# エ k©pt on working steadily in th© brickyard.

I was about seventeen years old now. Everyone on the job 

thought エ was much old©r. For entertainment after work, I 

learned how to box, gamble, and drink com liquor. W© used 

shoot dice and drink. Old man Bud Springer, an old whit© guy 

who worked there, h© used to mak© corn liquor and sell it to 

us* Georg© Ware tried his hand at making corn liquor, too*

Mr* Bill, the boss, used to b© a fighter. Sometimes I 

play around after work trying to imitate Jo© Louis, On© day 

Mr. Bill said, "You got a good stance, Brown Bomber, 11 

Everybody on the job called m© 11 Brown Bomber" after Jo©

Louis. Mr. Bill started training me, and I had some pretty- 

good fights. エ had a fight with a white guy and I knocked 

him out. Then エ had a fight with Sonny Boy Bradley and 

knocked him out. I thought I was helli Then they brought in 

Short-y Jeffrey from Beaumont, Texas. H© gav© m© a on©-two- 

three and knocked m© out. Shit, the ring was spinning all 

around. I told Mr. Bill, "Uh, Uh, brother. I don't want no 

more boxing. You can forget about that." He said, "Brown 

Bomber, you got to get whupped sometimes. That's how you 

learn." But I was young and I couldn,t se© i t . As long as I 

was knocking them down that was okay, but when Shorty Jeffrey 

knocked m© out that was i t • Jfeybe エ might have made a good 

fighter but I wasn't ready to go through th© hard part.
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There was on© guy named Red who v?ork©d at the other 

brickyard who had a wif© named Lena. Now this guy was very 

jealous. On© Sunday my friend 0tsey Prior cam© by in his car 

and picked m© up to go to Houston. I had made a good lick 

that day. I think I had won about fifteen, twenty dollars and 

I wanted to celebrate. Lena was there so I said HCome on 

Lena, you want to go? " エ bought her a drink to get her to go 

with me. So w© went up to Houston to get something to ©at. 

When I got back to Green Bayou, somebody say, "Man, Red 

looking for you. H© heard you were out with Lena in Houston. 111 

When I heard that I didn't know what Red might try to when h© 

got drunk. I went to old man Schw©in©r*s house. I told him I 

wanted to get his shotgun. "What you "want a shotgun for.

Brown Bomber? 11 HRed is looking for m© to k ill m©," What you 

do?H 11 His wife was in a car with Otsey Prior and ェ and 

somebody went and told him."1 H© said, 11 Red ain't gone bother 

you. Go on back home." Turned out Red wasn't looking for me. 

People just told ,e that lie to get ,e scared, it did

scare m© . エ didn’t run around with Lena no more.

On© morning on my day off from work, I was standing in 

the brickyard in front of th© gas burner warming myself. 

Suddenly my pants caught on nr©. The flames w©r© all around 

my legs. After a few minutes I was able to put the rlames 

out. But my leg was burned so badly I went and asked the 

brickyard, manager it he could send m© to see a doctor. Th© 

companv managers said they couldn,t send m© to se© a doctor
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because I got burned on my day off and not wh©n I was 

working.

On my own, I managed to get to Houston to se© a black 

doctor エ knew about. I didn't have any money but when th© 

doctor saw how badly my leg was burned h© treated m©. *]1 1© 

doctor said I could pay him later and I should com© back in 

two weeks. H© thought h© could get me some insurance money.

As days passed, my leg began to get worse, エ didn't have any 

money to travel back and forth to Houston to se© th© doctor, 

so エ caught a freight train and went back to Galveston. Unci© 

Tot and Aunt T-Bab© sent m© to another doctor. It took my leg 

three months to heal.

Immediately I started looking for a job in Galveston， 

Jobs s till were scare© th© sam© way it was when I first left. 

So I put in for my unemployment insurance. I worked on odd 

jobs in hotels, working on trucks# and cleaning yards. It 

took months before I heard from th© insurance company. When 

the answer cam© by mail th© letter said: 11W© th© company of 

th© brickyard canrt pay you any insuranc©." After getting 

this answer, エ returned to th© brickyard.

I was back on th© job for a month. T̂hen one of my fe丄丄cw 

workers whose name was String took ill.H© had been going 

back and foirth to se© his doctor. We didn't know th© nature 

of his illness, but, w© did know his doctor told him not to 

drink alcohol as long as h© was taking shots. On© day h© went 

to visit his doctor and had a shot. Th© sam© day, he drank 

some alcohol and died instantly in Houston. W© brought his
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CHAPTER WO



C h a p t e r  2/Off T h e  Plantation

I didn’t wan t  to look for support from m y  cousin， so the next 
d a y  I went looking for w o r k ， a n d  was hired as a hous e b o y  for the
TnRInnrhp

moderate income in this small town•丁 hey also h a d  a n  upstairs maid. 
I w a s  given a little shack in the back of their house to live in, which 
w a s  part of m y  meager wages.-The tocd~dblldmrtte~same

age-^s L—Tlieir clilktieU bind I go unlong fine together. Mrs. LaBlonche 

k n e w  the salary she w a s  giving m e  was small，so she told m e  to plant 
a garden in back of the house. The m o n e y  I earned f r o m  selling 

whatever vegetables I grew w o u l d  be m i n e  to use for things like 

movies or pocketchange. I grew different kinds of vegetables in m y  

garden. I gave Mrs. LaBlonche’s family s o m e  vegetables a n d  sold the 
rest u p  a n d  d o w n  the streets. I pulled a little red w a g o n  filled u p  to 
the top with vegetables.

There were times w h e n  I got ver\* lonesome in this little shack, 
especially w h e n  the d a y  wa s  over a n d  night began. O n e  thing for 
sure, I did have a G e r m a n  shepherd, Laddie, w h o  followed m e  

everywhere I went, even to the movies. He stayed outside until I 
c a m e  out. I lov^d this dog. H e  really was a d e w  ted friend.

O n e  day I w a s  walking along selling m y  vegetables， w h e n  a 
gang of white boys c a m e  u p  to m e  a n d  wanted to start a fight. I told 
t h e m  I lived at the LaBlonche's h o m e  a n d  w o r k e d  for them. They
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were quite surprised to hear this a n d  walked o n  d o w n  the street. I 
didn't have that trouble anymore.

M y  salary w a s  two dollars a w e e k ，plus meals. W h e n  time c a m e  
for m e  to eat, they brought m y  food out to the yard. This went on 

until Mrs. LaBlonche’s daughter, w h o  h a d  lived in N e w  York， 
explained to her m o t h e r  that she didn’t like the idea of serving m e  
food in the backyard. Having spent time in the North a n d  overcome 
most of her prejudices, she wanted it stopped a n d  w a n t e d  m e  to eat 

cit the table with the other children. Mrs. LaBlonchefs daughter 
further explained that she didnft believe in discriminating against 
a n y  race of people. Afterward, I w a s  treiited better than before 
iiround the house. I continued selling m y  vegetables.

I got acquainted with the Black m a i d  w h o  w o r k e d  upstairs. She 

w a s  forty years old. She was a very nice lady. She fixed m y  breakfast 
every morning. 厂

I w o r k e d  for the LaBlonches for s. O n e  S u n d a y

morning w h e n  everyone was attending church, I packed m y  suitcase 
a n d  left to look for s o m e  w o r k  w hich paid more. I w e n t  back to 
cousin Esther's house to li\̂ e. Things began to get unpleasant around 

the house. It s e e m e d  to m e  that cousin Esther's daughter w a s  

disturbed. Often w e  got into arguments. She slapped m e  in the face 
one day. I told cousin Jessie about h o w  she was acting a r o u n d  the 
house w h e n  everyone was out. He didn’t like it, a n d  told her never to 
slap m e  again. ；I didn't wan t  to m a k e  matters worse, so I left MeKim, 
Louisiana a n d  wen t  back to D a d  Hovvardfs plantation a n d  stayed one 
week.
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I wen t  to a little farm to visit s o m e  friends of mine. W h e n  I 

arrived there, they were out in the fields planting potatoes. I stayed
a n d  helped t h e m  plant potatoes for about a week. W h e n  I finished I 

told t h e m  I w o u l d  be back one dew to help eat them, but the last 

n e w s  I heard about m y  friends was that they h a d  died.
Before d a w n  I w o k e  m y  cousin u p  a n d  told h i m  I w a s  leaving; 

so，he gave m e  a chicken. W h e n  I walked dovYnJhe street, I saw a

111a n  coming toward m e  w h o  was dressed. vyas on  his
u ，ay to work. I stopped h i m  a n d  asked if he weHrild ltke to buy a 

chicken. He answe r e d  > es. I sold h i m  the chicken for forty cents. 
With forty cents in m y  pocket, I went looking for a friend's house to 

ask h i m  to travel with m e  a n d  show m e  the w a y  to Galwston, Texas.
O a k  Tar w a s  his name. W h e n  I f o u n d  O a k  Tar he didn’t have

終 へ l •

c m y  m o n e y  but he w a s  willing to h o b o  with m e  a n d  s h o w  m e  the 
" " 〇>

way. First, w e  h o b o e d  to Louisiana. There vve caught a
freight train for Galveston. Once inside the boxcar it was so cold w e

h a d  to m a k e  a fire. As vve traveled w e  didn't have anything to eat all 

the way. W h e n  O a k  Tcir a n d  I finally arrived, the cold w i n d  seemed
ft i |

it wen t  straight through our bodies. Uncle Tot a n d  
Bay were so h a p p y  to see m e t they h u g g e d  a n d  kissed m e  a n d
prepared our dinner. W h e n  dinner w a s  over, O a k  Tar went back to 

Marrot, Louisiana. 〆
It w a s  so nice being with m y  uncle a n d  ^\unt, but jobs were hard to 
find. N o  one vvps hiring. A  government agency h a d  a w o r k  project
called the Civilian Conservation Corps. This project w a s  designed for

y o u n g  boys w h o  w a n t e d  to work. I signed the necessary forms so I 
could begin working. However, the next m o r n i n g  w h e n  I w a s
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supposed to report to go o n  the job, I w a s  walking d o w n  the street 
a n d  pains started in the lower part of m y  stomach. I 
unconscious in the streets. S o m e o n e  ci^lled the ambulance. W h e n  I

I w a s  laving in betat Jolyi，％ e l y  Hospital. Hanging 

in front of m y  b e d  w a s  a chart w h i c h  read "C.C.C boy/' I was
uncertain about the nature of m y  illness. Before I realized what was

happening to me, a team of doctors wefenvheeling m e  d o w n  the
corridor toward the operating room. I passed a n  old doctor

did n ’t know,

〜 asked m e w a s  wrong. I told the doctor I
^ i  ̂ /f4- Kj
^ qV p H m p  i O  w a n r ^ A ^ n  opeFation. I told h i m

no. T h e  doctor told the team of doctors to take m e  back to m y  room. 
(jL /■ften he cam l̂n carrying in his hands a catheter， which he insertedA

a n d  pulled out. It w a s  later that I found out m y  urine h a d  stopped.
One thing for sure， I didn’t have any more trouble of that kind. When 
I thought about that job which I had signed up for at the C. C. C.
camp, I decided not to take it, because the go v e r n m e n t  w a s  only 
paying twent\r dollars a month. Five dollars w o u l d  be for myself and 

they w ould send the rest of the small a m o u n t  to m y  aunt.
There were times w h e n  I went to the Hall of Justice, a n d  listened to 
cases that wer e  scheduled for that day. I w a s  interested in finding
out about the administration of law， and ]10w it was carried out.
Before long this b e c a m e  one of m y  special past-times.
Every mo r n i n g  for three weeks I went to the d ry docks to look for 

work. O n  the d=r>r docks there were crowds of m e n  looking for work 
a n d  waiting in line to be called.. Finally, I w a s  called from a m o n g  the 
crowd. Thirty m e n  were hired that da\*. W e  were e x a m i n e d  a n a  
signed u p  to w o r k  as a labor scaling a n d  painting ships. Each m a n
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was given irontoe shoes a n d  a helmet for safety. Payday was o n  

Fridays.
W h e n  I w a s  working for a few weeks, it c a m e  time for the 

c o m m o n  laborers a n d  workers to organize into a union. Union 
workers walked off the job. W e  the c o m m o n  laborers respected t±ie 

picket lines a n d  didnft cross their lines. This was in 1938. I walked 
the lines every night. T h e  strike lasted three months. Before the 

strike, the c o m m o n  laborers were receiving tliirty cents an  hour. 
W h e n  the strike finally was settled, the wages were fifty cents a n  

hour. Afterwards, cill c o m m o n  laborers h a d  to join the union. N o w  

this w a s  m y  first involvement with ciny union activity. All the 
workers h a d  to join the union which vve paid four dollars to join. 

T h e n  the workers went back to work.
This job lasted sl\ months, then w o r k  began to slow down. T h e  

president of the union told the y o u n g  m e n  w h o  were working that 

they h a d  to go find w o r k  s o m e  other place. M y  union book w a s  
stamped ’’paid in full' T h e n  I left. ?

I started working part-time 011 ships with the c r e w m e n  a n d  
part-time o n  the railroad in Galveston. This job 011 the railroad ran 
out, so I went back looking for work. I w a s  willing to tr\7 any kind of 
work. Jobs those days were hard for a Black m a n  to find, except o n  
farms a n d  plantations, where wages we r e  so low y o u  could barely 

live off of it. 一 パ

Black peqple^vere^sharecroppers for white plantation owners 

a n d  homeowners. Black families stayed o n  s o m e  of their land a n d  
picked a n d  c h opped cotton at just above starvation wages. The li\lng
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arrangements mostly created hardship since large families 

were forced to live in one- a n d  t w o - r o o m  houses. There was no 
m n n i n g  water, only outdoor toilets, a n d  m a n y  were forced to sleep 
o n  floors. Families didn，t have e n o u g h  m o n e y  to b u y  n e w  clothing 

T h e  white plcinu^tion owners sold t h e m  h a n d - m e - d o w n  clothing.
S o m e  Black families m o v e d  off the plantations to get jobs in the 

cities. S o m e  were luck>'； others went be\ck to the farm. Black children 
w o r k e d  in the fields with little or n o  education. Naturally, I was 一 

determined to stay off the farms a n d  plantations/Tlj^efarerl went
vveek^vit;]! ncHttck. I left Galveston a n d  

wen t  to Crosby, Texas s^eiftfanother cousin^I didn^ have any luck 
finding m y  cousin. So I went walking d o w n  the old highway between 
Crosby a n d  Houston. I walked for about a n  110ur， w h e n  I spotted a 
brickyard right off the highway which w a s  Green Bayou. I went to 
the brickyard a n d  asked the foreman if h e  w a s  hiring. Sure enough， 

he w a s  hiring a n d  needed two m o r e  m e n .  I thought about m y  £〇usin 

in Galveston w h o  w a s  also out of work. I told the foreman I h a d  to go 
back to Galveston to get m y  cousin, but I w o u l d  c o m e  back with m y  

cousin a n d  take the job.
W h e n  m y  cousin a n d  I returned to Green Bayou, w e  were put 

to work. I w o r k e d  this open field until twelve o fclock noon. About 
this time I w a s  tired a n d  most of all very hungry. I didn’t have any 
m o n e y  to b u y  a n y  food, so a white fellow-employee asked if I was 

hungry. I said f was; then, he took m e  to a store for s o m e  food and  
told m e  he w o u l d  cover for it until I got paid. I w o r k e d  in the open 
field the rest of the day. I didn’t have a n y  place to live， but I heard 
about a boardinghouse that was renting rooms. After w o r k  I went to
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the boardinghouse a n d  inquired about a room. I took the r o o m  with 

board for one-fifty per week.
T h e  salar\r at the brickyard w a s  twelve cents a n  hour. Payday 

was o n  Saturday. T h e  next m o r n i n g  w h e n  I went to work, the 

foreman took out the fieldvvorkers to w o r k  in the brickyard. Once I 
started working inside the brickyard, I realized this w o r k  w a s n ’t as 

hard as the field work.
Most of the single m e n  wo u l d  go to Houston every Saturday to 

shop. O n e  Saturday I went to Houston to I bought a pair
^  |/A*v0〇 ^

©# parits a n d  seg^e sJurt̂ f. ^  I w a s  waiting for tfee-men take m e  

back, I fell asleep o n  a bench. W h e n  I w o k e  u p t m y  b a g  with m y  

pants a n d  shirts w a s  gone. S o m e o n e  h a d  stolen it. I l o o k e d  

everywhere a n d  couldnTt find the bag. T h e n  I saw a policeman 
standing o n  the comer. I asked h i m  if he h a d  seen s o m e o n e  pass by 
with a large bag in his hand. The policeman said, ” I’ve seen lots of 

people with big bags." W h e n  the fellows finally c a m e  back to pick m e  

up, I was so heartbroken a n d  angr>r that I told t h e m  about w h a t  h a d  
happened. This w a s  so amusing to t h e m  they laughed all the w a y  

back.
C o m i n g  f r o m  w o r k  one evening I m e t  a girl n a m e d  Alice. I 

asked her if I could go h o m e  with her. She said it w o u l d  be all right. 
W h e n  I got to her house she didn’t have a n y  food in her 310use, so I 
w e n t  out a n d  bought s o m e  food a n d  took it back to her house. She 
s e e m e d  to m e  j.o be a very nice person. M t e r  that day w e  began to 
be go o d  friends. This relationship lasted a long time, until o n e  night I 
took her over to s o m e  friends’ house a n d  told her* to until I ca m e  

back. I went gambling a n d  was lucky that night. I w o n  fifty* dollars. I

い 、、'
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w a s  so excited about m y  winnings， I rushed back to tell Alice a n d  
pick her up. W h e n  I got back to her house I knocked o n  the door. N o  
one c a m e  to the door. I repeated the knocking until finally m y  cousin 

c a m e  out of the house. I didn’t say anything to him, but I asked Alice 
w h a t  took so long for her to c o m e  to the door. She didn't say 
anything to me, but she h a d  a n  expression o n  her face that told m e  

right off tha t she h a d  been unfaithful in m y  absence. I left Alice at 

the door. I felt so hurt about Alice， I w e n t  h o m e  a n d  w e n t  to bed. 
T h e  next morning I went to work. Later o n  in the day I s a w  Alice 

carrying a suitcase, but I di d n ’t k n o w  she was leaving town. About 
two weeks later I was sitting in a bar drinking vvith s o m e  friends a n d  

a girl c a m e  through the door. M y  friends told m e  she w a s  Alice’s 
sister. W h e n  I started talking to her, she said she was Alice’s sister 
a n d  Alice was doing fine. Alicefs sister a n d  I started dancing. W h e n  

she got ready to leax^, she kissed me. I nevei：,heard f r o m  her until 
three m o n t h s  later. I was told Alice a n d  her sister were living in a 
small town someplace in Texas.

O n e  morning o n  m y  day off f r o m  work, I was standing near the 
brickyard in front of the gas burner^ Sudaenly m y  pants caught on 
fire. T h e  flames were all a r o u n d  m y  legs. .After a few minutes I was 
able to put the flames out. But m y  leg w a s  burned so b a d ^ I  went 
a n d  asked the brickyard m a n a g e r  if he could send m e  to see ci doctor. 
T h e  c o m p a n y  managers said they couldn^t send m e  to see a doctor 
because I got b p m e d  on m y  d a y  off a n d  not w h e n  I was working.
O n  m y  own, I m a n a g e d  to get to Houston. I didn't have a n y  m o n e y  
but w h e n  the doctor saw h o w  b a dj^fhv leg was b u r n e d  he treated 
m e  ,1he doctor said I could pay h i m  later a n d  I should c o m e  back in
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two weeks. As days passed， m y  leg began to get worse， I didn’t have

any m o n e y  to travel back a n d  forth to Houston to see the doctor, so I 
caught ci freight train a n d  went bcick to Galveston. Uncle Tot a n d  

A u n t  T-Bew sent m e  to another doctor. It took m y  leg three months 

to heal.

0̂ .

か
A

V

Meanwhile， I kept o n  working steadily in the brickyard. I was 

about \ ears old now. Every one o n  the job thought I was
m u c h  older. For entertainment after w o r k ， I learned h o w  to box，

gamble, a n d  drink corn liquor. I lecirned h o w  to b o x  after being 
knocked out a few times. Then, I got so good at boxing that whenever 
I boxed I could knock out the other fellows.

Evenso I was lonesome for a girlfriend. T h e  on!^4 \'〇m a n  ne^y 
the brickyard w a s  a m u c h  oldeゾ a n d  a goヲ/^)〇k. She cラkea 

at the brickyard. I asked I could c o m e ^ 6  v is it her. She said,
!C o m e  a ny time y o u ^ a n t  to.n I went to visit her e v e r y a f t e r  

work. Soon, I '^'aine very fond of W h e n  the feliows that I 
w o r k e d  vvifb^Tound out I was seein^this older w o m a n ,  they teased 
m e  ab^tit her. But, that didn^J^kve a n y  effect 015/me. I continued 

seeing her imtil she went b^aj^to Beaumont, Texas.
Immediately I started looking for a job in Galveston. Jobs still

were scarce the s a m e  w a y  it was w h e n  I first left. So I put in for m y
u n e m p l o y m e n t  insurance. I worked o n  o d d  jobs in hotels, working on 
trucks^ a n d  cleaning yards. It took m o n t h s  before I heard from the 
un€-mployment； insurance company. W h e n  the answer c a m e  by mail 
the letter read: !,W e  the c o m p a n y  of the brickyard c a n ft pay your
u n e m p l o y m e n t  insurance， because y o u  w e r e n ’t fired off the job•”

.After getting this answer, I returned to the brickyard.
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I was back o n  the job for a month. T h e n  one of m y  fellow 
workers whose n a m e  was^String took ill. H e  h a d  been going back and 
forth to see his doctor. W e  didnft k n o w  the nature of his illness; but, 
w e  did k n o w  his doctor told h i m  not to drink alcohol cis long as he 

w a s  taking shots. O n e  day he went to visit his doctor a n d  h a d  a shot. 
T h e  s a m e  day, he drank s o m e  alcohol a n d  died instantly irî  Houston. 
W e  brought his b o d y  back to the brickyard. The fellovvs a n d  I didn’t 
k n o w  any of his relatives， because he never spoke of any. W e  took 
u p  a collection: each one gave two dollars. W e  then buried his body 
in a nearby p o p p y  field. I spoke the last words over String’s body.

Before long A u n t  T- gay sent m e  a letter f r o m  Galveston in 
w h i c h  she told m e  to c o m e  back to Galveston, to pick u p  m y  

u n e m p l o y m e n t  checks. I w e n t  back to d o  so a n d  also returned to 
w o r k  at the brickycird. I w o r k e d  for a few mon t h s  a n d  left.

I went to Houston to live with A u n t  Bernice. In the m eantime I 

w e n t  to the u n e m p l o y m e n t  office a n d  registered for work. A  week 
later they g a w  m e  a job working in a cafeteria in the shipyard. This 

shipyard wasn't too far fro m  Houston. I rode the bus to w o r k  until I 
m e t  a fellow w h o  h a d  a car, then I rode with him. W a g e s  were five 
cents a n  hour, paid o n  every Friday. The job w a s n ’t paying much, so I 
left a n d  went looking once m o r e  for a job.

I heard m e n  were needed in Arizona to w o r k  o n  the railroad. I 
signed u p  for the job. Before I left, I w a s  examined a n d  given three 
days to get re^dy to leave for .Arizona. T h e n  I was given a pass to 
catch a train. I left Houston o ne night about ten o fclock to go to 
Tucson, Arizona.
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W h e n  I arrived in Tucson, I w a s  sent to a commissary in the

train station to b u y  s o m e  food a n d  whatever I needed to take into
レ ^ ^ ，

the c a m p  with me. I entered the c a m p ,  I noticed rows of tents 

were u p  for the workers to sleep in. O n e  of the foremen pointed out a 
tent for m e  to sleep in. T h e n  he left. Since it was so quiet a n d  all the
m e n  h a d  gone to bed, I went into m y  tent a n d  went to b e d

Before d a w n  I a loud whistlek iirramp. I
p r e s u m e d  it was time to get u p  a n d  get dressed for work. W h e n  I 
pulled the entrance of m y  tent back, I s a w  the m e n  standing outside 
of their tents getting recidy for breakfast, so, I joined them. I 
introduced myself to s o m e  of the m e n .  W h e n  breakfast w a s  over, I 
wen t  to w o r k  o n  the railroad. All the m e n  in c a m p  were Black m e n， 

except the timekeeper, the foreman, a n d  a few Chinese cooks. All the 
employees were §iven three meals a d a y  . This w a s  m y  first time
eating Chinese food, btit before long Chinese food c a m e  to be one of 
m y  favorite dishes. 〇 e X

Before ten o ’clock in the m o r n i n g  the hot sun w a s  beaming 

d o w n  m y  back. N o  house to be seen, n o  people passing by, just m e  

out in this hot desert working o n  the railroad. W h e n  the day was 
over a n d  the m e n  were back in c a m p  for the night, w e  sat around 

together a n d  talked about the things w e  planned to d o  w h e n  w e  got 
h o m e .  Sometimes w e  gambled a little; other times w e  took trips to 

Mexico.
T h q  ver>r first time I went to Mexico I h a d  the time of m y  

life. Although I couldn^ speak Spanish, I ran into a little Mexican boy 
w h o  spoke Spanish for me. This little b o y  w a s  about sl\ years old. He ^J\/〇w  

took m e  any place I thought I wanted to visit. In a n d  out of different

r h  フ / O ff thp Plnntatirm PacJp フフ



restc^urants, theaters, a n d  to see plenty of girls. Tte~150y told m e  that 
if I didn’t like the girls he took m e  to see, he w o u l d  take m e  to see 
his two sisters a n d  his mother. I didnft like the idea of going to his 

house, so I told h i m  I w ould settle for s o m e  of the other girls he took 

m e  to see. He  did all these things for one dollar.
O n e  night w h e n  I went to a r o o m  with a girl, this little boy was 

still waiting until I c a m e  out. It a m a z e d  m e  h o w  this boy k n e w  his 

w a v  ar o u n d  town. He  walked d o w n  the street with m e  smoking a big 
cigar. N o  one s e e m e d  to pay any attention to him. W h e n  I was ready 

to leave Mexico this little boy took m e  to the immigration office to let 
the aut110rities k n o w  I was leaving. After m y  first visit to Nlexico, I 
m a d e  several m o r e  trips cind each time I w e n t  this little boy would 
be waiting for m e  to s h o w  m e  the town.

M y  job o n  the railroad was going alright until one morning 150 
Black m e n ， ⑽口 'vhitP- timpVppppr wpnt 〇ut 

o n  strike. A  Black fellow-employee n a m e d  San Antonio w a s  standing 
o n  the handcar before the car started d o w n  the tracks. T h e  white
foreman told San Antonio to sit d o w n  in the car. San Antonio refused 
to sit d o w n  in the car because， as he told the f o r e m a n ， there was 

water in the car. But Xhe foreman told h i m  to sit in the water. 'When
San Antonio still refused, the foreman fired him.

M y  fellow-employees called a meeting to put San xAntonio back 
to work. T h e  m e n  w o u l d n ’t go back to w o r k  either. T h e  very next 
morning all thQ m e n  ate their breakfast a n d  got ready for work; but, 
w h e n  the foreman blew the whistle, the m e n  stood u p  by the tracks 
a n d  wouldn't move. Finally, the m e n  chose m e  a n d  two m o r e  m e n  to 
speak for the rest of the men. I told the foreman if he didn’t put San
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Antonio back to w o r k  no one was going bcU'k to work. W h e n  vve still 

couldn’t get any satisfaction from the f o r e m a n ， I told the foreman 
that I would call in the roadmaster, if San Antonio w a s n ’t put back to 
work. In the meantime, the m e n  standing near the tracks were 

waiting until w e  brought n e w s  back to t h e m  about San Antonio. 
Finally, the foreman agreed to put San Antonio back to work. Then, 
all the m e n  went back to work.

After this experience was over* I realized that unity with other 
employees was what m a d e  the foreman act. If all employees united 
together o n  jobs there w o u l d  be less trouble a n d  less firings w o u l d  
c o m e  from tiie employer.

W h e n  I c a m e  to w o r k  o n  the railroad, I left m y  sweetheart, 

Ruth, back in Houston. As  time passed I never heard f r o m  her or 
even got a letter. So I began to worry about her a n d  w a n t e d  to see 
her. I mc\de up  m y  m i n d  I w o u l d  go back to Houston,Texas a n d  tr>r to 

find Ruth. So I told the foreman I w a n t e d  a pass to go home. H e  gave 
m e  a pass a n d  I left Tucson a n d  went back to Houston. W h e n  I first 
arrived in Houston I we n t  directly to the house she w a s  living in 
w h e n  I first left; but, the people w h o  were li\ing in the house told 
m e  she didn’t live there any more. W e e k s  passed. I went everywhere 
I thought shefd  be, with n o  luck. I never found Ruth. L o n e s o m e  a n d  
heartbroken，I left Houston a n d  went back to Galveston.

I didn’t stay in Galveston very long with the w o r k  situation 
being the sam^ as w h e n  I left. M e n  were still being sent to w o r k  o n  
the railroad. I signed u p  once m o r e  for the job. I work e d  o n  the extra 
gang for a while. to v v o r k - o a ^ e - s e r r i e ^ ^ d ,  I left the
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extra gang a n d  wen t  to Phoenix. I h a d n ’t received any money:from  

working o n  the extra gang.
W h e n  I went to the train station, I sat d o w n  o n  a bench a n d  m y  

m i n d  started wandering concerning w h a t  I should do next. I only had 

one nickel in m y  pocket. After I sat awhile, I got u p  from the bench 
a n d  went a n d  cisked the ticket agent if they still needed a m a n  on the 
sectioiL^^^TTlie ticket agent 100ked o n  a list a n d  asked if I wanted
the job. I told h i m，”Yes, I want the job.” After the ticket agent signed 

m e  u p  for the job, he gave m e  3. pass o n  the train a n d  a letter to get 
s o m e  food from the commisaty. I bought a loaf of bread, s o m e  cans 
of beans，a can of wieners，mackerel, packs of cookies.

I was o n  m y  w a y  to acsmafftovm  1101 too far from Los Angeles, 

California. As I sat in this small train station waiting for the train to 
arrive, I noticed I was sitting next to a n  old m a n  a n d  11is wife. The y  
asked m e  if I w a s  hungry. I told t h e m  I w a s n ’t hungry, I h a d  s o m e  

food. But they insisted o n  giving m e  a slice of watermelon, which I 
accepted. By this time the train pulled into the station. Sometime late 
that night I arrived in this^^^^^gvvn. I stave^ in the station all 

night. T h e  next morning I walked f r o m  the^liul^^wn to the section 
houses. I gave the foreman m y  w o r k  slip cind started to w o r k  that 

M o n d a y  morning. ’ f
That evening, I got acquainted with two Black families. Their 

h o m e s  were in Los Angeles. They lived in section h o m e s  that were 
given to till employees w h o  w o r k e d  o n  the railroad. Often these^ 

families traveled back a n d  forth to Los Angeles.
め '
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Lee Brown interview concerning chapter 2: 6/14/98

RE: Chapter 1 page 12 whit© ma3i/in bar

This drunk whit© man named Aleck Havord came over to the 
black side and tried to kifes or dance with Aunt Bernice. She 
refused him and h© hauled off and slapped her.

Incident in welfare office happened in Galveston and should 
go in ch. 2 ,

Page 12：1

Lablonch©1s daughter1s nam© was Margaret, and sh© was not th© 
oldest.

エ used to do things 丄 lk© go to th© store and buy shoes for 
her. Sh©"d tell m© th© size add I'd go get them. I bought 
her powder, soap, things lije© that. She probab丄y was too 
lazy to go herself, bo sĥr B©nt me. Sh© had confidence in 
me. /

035
エ us©d to help clean up the place, and work in th© garden. I 
had my own little  gaipd̂en.

040
Margaret was in her twent̂ s. Sh© wa日 going to school♦
There w©r© three other daughters, but they were older and 
married had moved out /  Margaret was th© only on© left in th© 
house. Father was Mj?% E.J. LaBlonch©, (doesn1 rememeber 
mother*s tirst nafff©.) Mrs. LaBlonch© was handicapped, sh© 

h©i/leftcouldn't us© hand.

Pag© 13:2

060
At first I at© my meals in th© backyard under a tree close to 
th© house. They gave m© a wooden t̂ bl© and a chair back 
there. But Margarert didn't like Jkfnat. Margaret had visited 
New York and seen how black and/whit© people lived ther© and 
she ©xpalained to her mother tenat maKing m© ©at in th© back 
yard wa© wrong. Her mother pdrabably hadn*t travelled and 
didn't know any better. I 2ak©d Margaret. Sh© was friendly 
toward m© and sh© seemed/intelligent. If sh© believed in 
disc3rimiiiation，wouldn* シ 4iave trusted m© going to the store 
for her. I realized that not all whit© people were mean and 
prejudiced; some, like Margaret, tried to be decent tov?ard 
black people.

Marqaret "was a s丄 lm brunette.
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Black Maid： Sh© did th© cleaning and the washing and 
ironing. I used to give her of th© vegetables from my
garden.

Decided to leave to better my/̂ ondition. The little  money I 
was making wasn't enough, r/needed to buy my own clothes and 
shoes. On© day エ jumped upメ nd wanted to get to stepping 〒〇 I 
packed my suitcase and to look for some work that paid
more. /.

I went back to Esther's ho\̂ /and stayed about a month. 
Esther v?as nice to m自 daughter and ェ couldn't g©t
along. Sh© slapped m© tpnce.

p 14 : 3 /

Went to friends , Annie and Harris，I felt good
helping them with th© plantinjĝ caus© they were struggling 
sharecroppers and they appreciated my help.

Left them a stayed for a dav̂ jr so with cousin Horae© 
Bertrand, When I was l©â £g ェ asked him if he could 手 ive me 
some money for travellingand h© gave m© a chicken, which I 
was happy to get.

Decided to go to galeston Jâecaus© h© knew Unci© Tot and Aunt 
T-Bab© were there. /

Welfare office stoiry f rom 1 goes before last para on p .14

p .15:4 /
Old doctor did not recognizê ilB. "Tliey were putting m© in 
th© operating room. エ saw户 l l  these doctors standing around. 
This old doctor asked m©/wiat was wrong, and I told him エ 

didn11 want to b© operated on.11
y

Courthouse interest (237) : While I wâ looking for work, I 
used to go to th© courhous© in Galveston and listen to th© 
cases. I had heard people talkin̂ /4bout the courthouse and 
the law and all, and エ was interested. I was also interested 
because I remembered Unci© Tot's< trouble in Louisiana with 
th© whit© man. Tot got away to/oalveston, but th© Sherifr in 
Louisana found out where h© was and got th© police in Texas 
to arrest him on his job at̂ /th© dry docks. They brought him 
back to Louisiana and put 声 1m in ja il in Opelusas. I was 
s till living in Louisiana/then. But they had to let him out 
because th© whit© man they claimed Tot killed, his mother 
cam© to th© courthouse And told them, 11 Tot did not k ill my 
son." Sh© knew h© didn't do it. Some other white man had 
done it. They had tc/ let Tot go. When he got back to 
Galveston, th© superintendent at th© dry docks, a man named 
Spider, let him hay*© hie job back. Tot wa日 a good worker and 
Spider said, HI d«4't car© if h© killed ©very whit© man in
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Louisiana, I want him back on th© joby* (Eventually I went to 
work at the dry docks/too.) /
3 02 /
So エ was interested in what went 06 at th© courthouse. エ 

noticed that they had a lot more/fclack folks in there than 
whites on trial and going to ja il for various crimes. It 
seemed like something was wroî g, but I couldn't pinpoint 
exactly what. エ didn't really understand how racism worked at 
that time, but I knew sometMng was wrong. It wouldn't b© 
until I got into th© unior̂ that ェ would understand better. 
But I could se© that blacjj/folks was not getting equal 
justice. And it mad© me/start to thinking.
340
Getting work at th© dry docket Every morning I would go an 
line up on th© dock for worjâ All the foremen would com© 
over on a little  boat and/̂ ick th© people they wanted to 
hire. Th© dry docks waŝ n th© other side of th© bay. On tnis 
particular morning thjay hired about 3 0 men, and I was on© of 
them. /

認 r i s : 5 斗 〜 。 v
on I found out that you had ta ĵoin th© union, and Mr. 

Spriggens was th© president. Iliis/was the union of common 
laborers, a black union. Unci© Tdt was a member of the 
union. Mr. Spriggens told Uncle/Tot, 11 Your boy is young.
You111 have to stand for him feo get his book." So Mr. 
Spriggens signed m© up and gave m© my black union book.
396 /
I was doing common laborsometimes running th© scaling 
gun, or painting, or do>m in th© double hold cleaning out th© 
bottom, which was dangerous work. Just lik© they did in 
Texas City, Texas that damned ship blowed up. But I was
young and I didn't |mow how dangerous it was.

Later on in 1938 w© went on strike^or better wages. The 
common laborers w©r© on丄y mafcinチ イ 5 cents and hour. They put 
m© on th© picket line at night< That was my first time on a 
picket line. Th© whit© guys th© other unions, the 
boilermakers, th© caarpenteacfs, they respected our picK©t lines 
and wouldn't cross the 1m©, 500 エ was proud to b© in th© 
union and on ©trike because my Uncle Tot was a strong union 
man. I remember during the strik© Unci© Tot would wak© up in 
the morning and t©̂ 1 aunt T-Bab©, "Hurry up an fix my 
breakfast; I gotノ to go on duty." That1s what h© said about 
going to th© plaicet line; h© was proud of it and called it 
"going on duty. 11 H© was picketing during th© day, and I 
picketed atyftight. It was th© first time either of us was on 
a picket lpnj& and h© inspired me.
57 0
Th© union mad© me feel that I coû i do something for poor 
people lik© myself. Th© union m© a way to go forward, to
help change things.
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Worked slowed down; Spriggen© ^ld the young men that if they 
wanted to look for work eom©p-3tac© els© h© would stamp their 
union book "paid in fu ll11 make it ©asi©r to find work. Th© 
married men with familieŝ tayed working at the dry docks.

th© tracks in the yard 
working on the tracks.

Got parttim© job on ships as â crummer (?) . My job was to 
hook a sling to a crane to load raw sugar or cotton on
the ship. 567 On th© r a i l I  was working helping around

©y had about six or seven men

pag© 17 j 6

The boss, a German named Bill Schjv̂ iner, in Galveston said he 
could put on two men. "You knoŵ iybody else?" Mr. Bill 
asked. I said let m© go back/cind get my cousin out of 
Galveston. エ hopped a freiglit: train back to Galveston. That 
was my transportation. I^hit that freight like I owned it.

Brickyard work:11le first two or three days h© put me to 
working digging stumps up in this open field. That's on© way 
of breaking you in, seê ow you vrork.

p 18:7

Cousin also stayed at borading hpus©. Georeg War©, th© man 
who ran th© boarding house had./a daughter, Georgia Lee, that 
lived m Houston. W© used t^go to Houston and eventually 
Joseph married her. She st^ll lives in Houston. Joseph 
later moved to Alaska and/married somebody ©Is© and had a 
eon. H© died years lat〆 in Alaska. They say h© choked on a 
chicken bon©. /

692
Brickyard work inside: X workepKmolding bricks. エ was a mud 
brick maker. You put th© something like a mixer. One
guy would feed it with th^/Sirt, and I be taking it out. It 
was just lik© in a bakingshop. You make three bricks at a 
time. Put them in the smooth off th© top, put th© molds
on a pallet board and/xak© them on a buggy to th© drying 
place where they stay for a couple of weeks. Then they take 
th© bricks to a ki2n in a big old building where they bum 
th© bricks. Old man Frick was th© on© in charge of th© kiln.

Old man Frick was th© on© who me to join th© NAACP

SIDE TWO 
Page 18:7

Frick lived in Houston but he'd com© and work at th© 
brickyard during th© ŵek. On th© weekends he'd go back to 
his family. H© used tcy tell about th© F̂reedom." I wanted
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to know about this freedom. In^h© evening after work he'd 
te ll about how th© NAACP was fighting to get freedom. H© 
talked to m© and Joseph. Wo/w©r© searching for freedom, 
young men who wanted to b©/tr©e. I know I wanted to be fre©, 
and v?ant©d to join something to get freedom. I t  was only 50 
cents a year to join. This was around 1939. So I got my 
social security card and my NAACP card that same year.

745
Georg© War©, who ran th© board 
Houston on a Saturday evening 
and bought m© a pair of trous©^

ing h0 \丨 use, used to take ub to 
l i t t le  car. So I went

-------a shirt to put on that
Sunday so I'd  look sharp. Vlhi^e I was sitting  on a bench 
waiting for Georg© to com© back by and pick m© up to go back 
to Galveston,エ went to Gotdammit, when エ woke up my
damn package with my trcxisers and shirt was gone. I jumped 
up and I saw a policeman and asked, "Have vou seen anybody 
with a package." He デ Id, "I've seen plenty of people with 
packages, but エ can〆 stop everybody I s©© with a package.11 
That shows how stupid you can b© when you don't have 
knowledge. I learned through struggling. So that was my loss,

ALICE story happned in New Orleans later, 

Pag© 19:8 (7 6 8)

Went to a black doctor, Dr. Shadows, in Houston 

page 2 0: 3

Mr. B ill, the boss, used to b© a fighter. Sê etimes I'd  play 
around after work trying to imitate Jo© I0uis. On© day Mr. 
B ill saia, "You got a good stance, Browĵ Bomber.1' Everybody 
on th© joto called m© 11 Brown Bomber"1 after Jo© Louis. Mr.
B ill started training m©# and I had/6om© pretty good fights.
ェ had a right with a whit© guy an^/i knocked him out. Then I 
had a fight with Sonny Boy Bradl^ and knocked him out. エ 

thought ェ was he ll! Then they fought in Shorty Jeffrey from 
Beaumont, Texas. H© gave m© a/ibn©-two-three and knocked me 
out, Shit, th© ring was spimling around. I told KEr. B ill, 
"Uh/ Uh/ brother. I don't no more boxing. You can forget
about that •" He said, HB̂ own Bomber, you got to get whupped 
sometimes . That1 s how j/ou 1 ©am. But I was young and ェ 

couldn't Bee i t .  As as I was knocking them down that was
okay, but when Shorty Jeffrey knocked m© out that was i t . 
Maybe I might have/iiiad© a good fighter but I wasn't ready to 
go through th© haXd part.

We used shoot dice and drink. Old man Bud Springer, an old white 
guy he worked there, he used/fb make com liquor and sell it to us. 
George Ware tried his han^Kat making com liquor, too. ■
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LENA Story (845)

There was one guy named Red who work©<a at the other brick 
yard who had a wife named Lena. Now/this guy was very 
jealous. On© Sunday Otsey Prior cam© buy in his car and 
picked m© up to go to Houston. made a good lick that
day, I think I had on© about fifteen, twenty dollars and I 
wanted to celebrate. Lena wasycher© so I said "Come on Lena, 
you want to go?" So w© went î p to Houston to get something 
to ©at. wh©n I got back to r̂een Bayou, somebody say, "Man, 
Red looking for you. He heâ a you were out with Lena in 
Houston." When I heard tĥ fc I didn't know what Red might try 
to when h© got drunk. I y4nt to old man Schweiner's house. I 
told him I wanted to get shotgun. "What you want a
shotgun for, Brown Bombor?" "Red is looking for me to k i l l  
m©." "What you did?H /His wife was in a car with Otsey 
Prior and I and somebody went a told him.11 H© said, "Red 
a in 't gone bother 00 on back home.111 Turned out Red
wasn't looking for n<©. People just told m© that 1 1© to get 
me scared. And it/a id  scar© me. I didn't run around with 
Lena no more. ノ

page 21; 9  
¢895)

Last words for String: ェ sai<̂ Xe was a happy fellow. H© 
always laughed, and never ha /̂any trouble at the brickyard.
I talked about th© hair grease h© mad© out of ly© that he 
used to slick down his haĵ r and make i t  look good. H© was a 
lo t of fun, smiling and/^alking. W© would miss old String.

9 05 Did get unemployident check but not insurance money.■oデ|
Aunt Be mice had mĉ ©d to Hou 日 ton and got married.

Railroad work; heard about w〇3̂c m Arizona. I went to th© 
railroad station to find out/^as they hiring people. iTiey 
gave m© an application and said they'd accept me. So エ

decided to go there. I thought I could do better, went to 
Tucson ノ ’

Pag© 22:10

I worked on th© extra gang, which is aŷ ang of over a 
hundred men working on th© railroad maintain th© tracks. 
We had to tamp ties and raise the t 卢 cks to keep them level* 
They needed these extra gangs becû e during th© war years 
there might b© eight or nine or irjor© trains a day that would 
pass along th© tracks. I was a/flagman. I worked way up on 
th© tracks to signal the train〆to slow down. I had my i:丄ag 
and th© torpedoes that I us©d/to signal th© engineer. When 
you se© a train coming you raat down a red torpedo on th© 
track. When th© train h it i t  h© vrould know to slow down. 
Then you put another one ôwn to slow him d,own more, and a
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thiird meant h© should s t o p u s e d  my hands to signal to one 
train how far ahead the ne^t train was.

Page 23:11

San Antonio Story ¢975): What happened/was that when w© 
knocked off from work ©very day, w©1 d p<ut the handcar back on 
the track to get back to camp. This eky in loading the water 
kegs some water had spilled on the s4at# and San Antonio saw 
i t  and decided to stand up rather tonan s it in th© water.
When th© whit© foreman saw San ftntobnio standing h© told him 
to s it down. San Antonio said nof because there was water on 
the seat. Th© foreman told SaiyAntonio again to s it dovm. and 
again h© refused. When w© gotyĵ ack to th© camp the foreman 
told San Antonio h© was f ired/b©cause h© disobeyed the 
foreman1s orders. San Antonao told him, "I wasn't gonna s it 
in that water no matter whc/s orders i t  was.1* Now I was 
watching this and I was already a union man. In fact, I 
stil+  had my union book./ So ェ got to the boy日 and I said, 
"Alright, le t's  get together tonight and have a meeting." At 
the meeting ェ said th #  we shouldn't go back to work until 
th© foreman put San Antonio back to work. A ll of them 
agreed. Ilie neoct m〇4:ning th© old foreman got out there and 
blew his whistle, yi?© stood by th© tracks looking at him but 
we wou丄dn't movey/ "Alright boys, le t ' s go" h© said. Th© 
boys had alr©adv/at th© meeting said, "Brown, are you going 
to speak?11 and ぶ  said, "Oh, yeah, I« ll speak." And I showed 
them my uniorytook. So I told the foreman, »W© ain»t going 
un til you San Antonio back to work.11 11 ェ can't do that,
h© fired now." I said, "Well, I'm going to call th© 
roadmast©ダ in Yuma.11 When エ said that, shit, the foreman got 
nervous and said, "Okay, go back to work everybody. I.m gonna 
put San/Antonio back to work." H© didn't want to face that 
roadmaster. So w© got San Antonion back on the job by taking 
action. I was th© only union man out th©r©, but I led th© 
struggle. I t  was a victory for us .

page 24:12
Met Ruth through Aunt Bernic^^ Sh© used to v is it Aunt 
Bemic©. Bernic© knew RutJhf1© mama. Bernic© invited her 
there on© time when I vis iting and that's how I met her.

Page 25 〇 (t\^^
A section gang is a group of m - ± J a a j 〇- six men who 
maintain a certain section of track. Diff©rr©nt section gangs 
took car© of different sections of track. On my section gang 
w© had two brothers and some Spanish guys. Itiey Spanish guys 
would take m© to Mexico ©very night with stories about Mexico 
when w© got off work. Tlie two black guys w©r© married and 
they would te ll m© a ll about Los Angeles, and encouraged m© 
to go there. ェ was wondering how come tfi©y didn，t stay in 
Los Angeles * lliey were te lling  m© how good i t  was but her© 
they were on th© section gang. Maybe they wanted to get rid
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of me, ェ didn’t  know. Anyway, i t  got me to thinking about 
going to Los Angeles.
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